



# Migrating PanelView Enhanced Terminal Applications

**Quick Start** 

Rockwell Automation

### **Important User Information**

Solid state equipment has operational characteristics differing from those of electromechanical equipment. Safety Guidelines for the Application, Installation and Maintenance of Solid State Controls (publication SGI-1.1 available from your local Rockwell Automation sales office or online at <a href="http://literature.rockwellautomation.com">http://literature.rockwellautomation.com</a>) describes some important differences between solid state equipment and hard-wired electromechanical devices. Because of this difference, and also because of the wide variety of uses for solid state equipment, all persons responsible for applying this equipment must satisfy themselves that each intended application of this equipment is acceptable.

In no event will Rockwell Automation, Inc. be responsible or liable for indirect or consequential damages resulting from the use or application of this equipment.

The examples and diagrams in this manual are included solely for illustrative purposes. Because of the many variables and requirements associated with any particular installation, Rockwell Automation, Inc. cannot assume responsibility or liability for actual use based on the examples and diagrams.

No patent liability is assumed by Rockwell Automation, Inc. with respect to use of information, circuits, equipment, or software described in this manual.

Reproduction of the contents of this manual, in whole or in part, without written permission of Rockwell Automation, Inc., is prohibited.

Throughout this manual, when necessary, we use notes to make you aware of safety considerations.

	Identifies information about practices or circumstances that can cause an explosion in a hazardous environment, which may lead to personal injury or death, property damage, or economic loss.
IMPORTANT	Identifies information that is critical for successful application and understanding of the product.
	Identifies information about practices or circumstances that can lead to personal injury or death, property damage, or economic loss. Attentions help you identify a hazard, avoid a hazard, and recognize the consequence
SHOCK HAZARD	Labels may be on or inside the equipment, for example, a drive or motor, to alert people that dangerous voltage may be present.
BURN HAZARD	Labels may be on or inside the equipment, for example, a drive or motor, to alert people that surfaces may reach dangerous temperatures.

Allen-Bradley, CompactLogix, DH+, FactoryTalk, FactoryTalk View Machine Edition, FactoryTalk View ME, FactoryTalk Site Edition, FactoryTalk View Studio, PanelBuilder, PanelView, PanelView e, PanelView Plus, PLC 5, Rockwell Automation, RSLinx, RSLinx, RSLinx, RSLinx, Lite, RSView, SLC, SLC 500, and TechConnect are trademarks of Rockwell Automation, Inc.

Trademarks not belonging to Rockwell Automation are property of their respective companies.



## ...To Here



Follow this path to migrate your PanelView 1000e or 1400e terminal and application to the PanelView Plus terminal platform.



## Table of Contents

Preface	Introduction9Audience10Required Software10Migration Services10Conventions11Additional Resources11
Migration Considerations	Chapter 1Introduction13Migration Considerations13
Select a Terminal Replacement	Chapter 2Introduction15Before You Begin15What You Need15Follow These Steps15Selecting a Terminal Replacement16Reviewing Terminal Comparisons17Installing a PanelView Plus Terminal18
Migrate Your Application	Chapter 3Introduction19Before You Begin19What You Need19Follow These Steps20Import Application21
Review the Application Conversion Log	Chapter 4Introduction25Before You Begin25What You Need25Follow These Steps26About the Conversion Log27Review the Conversion Log28
Review Object Mapping	Chapter 5Introduction33Before You Begin33What You Need33Follow These Steps34Reviewing Object Mapping35Reviewing and Modifying Expressions37

## Review Unsupported Features and Implement Workarounds for Migration Issues

## **Chapter 6**

Introduction	39
Before You Begin	39
What You Need	39
Follow These Steps	40
Reviewing Unsupported Features.	41
Reviewing Common Migration Issues and Workarounds	46
Required Files and Utilities	46
Replacing Scrolling List Objects	
Replacing the Cursor List	48
Create a Piloted Control List Selector	48
	52
Resize the Piloted Control List Selector	53
Assign Navigation Keys to Piloted Control List Selector	53
Assign Function Keys to a Piloted Control List Selector	
Replacing the Multistate Indicator Object List	56
	56
Resize and Align Multistate Indicators	59
Replacing the Local Message Object List.	60
Create Local Message Displays	60
Resize and Align the Local Message Displays	63
Replacing the Numeric Data Display Object List	64
Create Numeric Displays	64
Resize and Align the Numeric Displays	67
Replacing the Set Bit Cursor Point Object.	68
Register the ActiveX Control on Your Computer	68
Configure the Set Bit Cursor Point ActiveX Control	71
Provide Visual Feedback	76
Register the ActiveX Control on a PanelView CE Terminal	
Bit Position Data Type Workaround.	80
PLC Controlled Decimal Point Workaround	
Fixed Position Decimal Point Workaround	
Retain Last State Workaround	
Ladder Logic Updates to Support Visible States.	86

## Chapter 7

**Qualify the Runtime Application** 

Introduction							91
Before You Begin							91
What You Need							91
Follow These Steps							92
Reviewing Diagnostic Lists							93
Configure the Runtime Diagnostic Display							94
Reviewing Error States for Graphic Objects .							95
Test Run Graphic Displays					•	•	96

Test Run the Application	. 98
Configuring Global Memory Connections	. 99
Hardware Limitations	. 99
Configure Global Connections	100
Configuring Communication	102
Remote I/O Communication	102
Configure DH+ Communication	106
ControlNet Communications	109

## Chapter 8

Introduction	111
Before You Begin	111
What You Need	111
Follow These Steps	112
Create the Runtime Application	113
Download the Runtime Application	114
Download Application Using Ethernet Connection	114
Download Application Using a CompactFlash Card	118
Run the Application	120

## Chapter 9

Introduction	121
Before You Begin	121
What You Need	121
Follow These Steps	122
Benchmarking Performance	123
Reviewing Tag Update Response	123
Scan Classes - PanelBuilder 1400E Software	123
Tag Update Rate - FactoryTalk View ME Software	124
Measure Performance of Display Changes	125
Reviewing Background Updates	126
Global Connections	126
Alarms.	127
Data Log Model	128
Information Messages	129
Optimize Tags for Communication Protocols	129
About the Tag Converter Wizard	130
Export the HMI Tag Database	131
Export Graphic Displays to XML File	133
Export Alarms to XML File	135
Run the Tag Converter Wizard	137
Re-import the Display XML File	141
Re-import the Alarms XML File	144

## Create the Runtime Application

## Measure and Improve Runtime Application Performance

Advanced Object Editing

## Appendix A

Introduction	147
Property Panel	147
Editing Multiple Objects	148
Object Explorer.	150
Tag Substitution	154

## Index

## Introduction

This document provides guidelines and procedures for migrating a PanelView 1000e or 1400e terminal application to the PanelView Plus terminal platform. The procedures and guidelines cover:

- selecting and optionally installing a PanelView Plus terminal replacement.
- migrating your PanelView 1000e or 1400e application to FactoryTalk View Machine Edition software.
- updating the migrated application and ladder logic, as necessary, to verify compatibility with FactoryTalk View Machine Edition software.
- reviewing and implementing workarounds for unsupported features.
- verifying the correct operation of the migrated application on the PanelView Plus terminal.
- measuring and improving performance of the migrated application.

The procedures and guidelines are designed to make the migration process as easy as possible.

The beginning of most chapters contains the following information. Read these sections carefully before beginning work in each chapter.

- **Before You Begin** This section lists the steps that must be completed and decisions that must be made before starting the chapter. The chapters in this quick start must be completed or reviewed in the order in which they appear.
- What You Need This section lists the items that are required to complete the steps in the current chapter. This includes, but is not limited, to hardware and software.
- Follow These Steps This section illustrates the path or steps in the current chapter.

Also note that the electronic version of this publication contains links to other publications for easier navigation and reference.

## Audience

This quick start was created to assist a user familiar with Rockwell Automation HMI products on how to convert an existing application for the PanelView Plus terminal platform.

## **Required Software**

The table provides the software required to convert a PanelView 1000e or 1400e application to a PanelView Plus application.

Software	Version
FactoryTalk View Studio, which includes: • FactoryTalk View Machine Edition • RSLinx Enterprise	Version 5.0
PanelBuilder 1400e Software	Version 5.16

## **Migration Services**

This migration service	Includes	For more information
Step Forward Program	<ul><li>Provides a credit for returned product.</li><li>PanelView 1400e to PanelView 1000e</li></ul>	Consult your local distributor for details
	PanelView Enhanced to PanelView Plus	
PV1000e Migration Kits	PV1000e terminal and adapter plate at a reduced price	Consult your local distributor for details
PanelView Plus Starter Kits	lus Starter Kits PanelView Plus terminal and associated software at a reduced price to help you get started with a new product family.	
Bundled Migration Services	<ul> <li>PanelView Enhanced to PanelView Plus terminal hardware conversion</li> </ul>	For more information on services, go to this website:
	<ul> <li>PanelView Enhanced to PanelView Plus application file conversion</li> </ul>	http:\\rockwellautomation.com/services/on site
	<ul> <li>Turnkey service including any ladder logic changes required</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Delivered onsite by Rockwell Automation service engineers</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Project supervision and conversion engineering services</li> </ul>	
	Standardized service bundle	
	Fixed price proposal	

## Conventions

This manual uses the following conventions.

Convention	Meaning	Example
Courier font	Type or enter text exactly as shown.	Type cmd.
Check or uncheck	Click to activate or deactivate a checkbox.	Check the Disable Keying checkbox.
Click	Click the left mouse button once while the cursor is positioned on object or selection.	Click Browse.
Double-click	Duble-clickClick the left mouse button twice in quick succession while the cursor is positioned on object or selection.Double-click the application icon.	
Expand Click the + to the left of a given item /folder to show its contents.		Expand HMI tags.
Right-clickClick the right mouse button once while the cursor is positioned on object or selection.		Right-click on Program Files.
Select	Click to highlight a menu item or list choice. Select the SBCP ActiveX file.	
>	Shows nested menu selections as menu name followed by menu selection.	Select Object>ActiveX Control.

## **Additional Resources**

Resource	Description
Adapter Kit for PanelView 1400e Touch Screen Terminal Cutout Installation Instructions, publication <u>2711-IN023</u>	Provides details on how to use the cutout adapter kit, catalog number 2711P-RAT12E, to mount a PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1250 touch screen terminal into an existing PanelView 1400e touch screen panel cutout.
Adapter Kit for PanelView 1200/1200e/1400e Keypad Terminal Cutout installation instructions, publication 2711P-IN015	Provides details on how to use the cutout adapter kit, catalog number 2711P-RAK12E, to mount a PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1250 keypad terminal into an existing PanelView 1400e keypad panel cutout.
Adapter Kit for PanelView Standard or PanelView e	Provides details on how to use the:
Terminal Cutouts Installation Instructions, publication 2711P-IN010	<ul> <li>cutout adapter kit, cat. no. 2711P-RAK10, to mount a PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1000 keypad terminal into an existing PanelView 1000e keypad panel cutout.</li> </ul>
	• cutout adapter kit, cat. no. 2711P-RAT10, to mount a PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1000 touch screen terminal into an existing PanelView 1000e touch screen, panel cutout.
PanelView Plus Terminals and Display Modules Installation Instructions, publication <u>2711P-IN001</u>	Provides details on how to install the PanelView Plus 1250 or 1500 terminal in a panel.
Visualization Platforms Selection guide, publication <u>VIEW-SG001</u>	Provides catalog numbers for the PanelView Plus terminals.
FactoryTalk View Studio online help	Provides information and procedures for creating and editing a FactoryTalk View Machine Edition application and supported features.

## **Migration Considerations**

Introduction	This chapter covers considerations to address before migrating a PanelView 1000e or 1400e application to the PanelView Plus platform.

## **Migration Considerations**

The table provides an explanation of things to consider when migrating an application.

Migration Consideration	Explanation	For More Information	
Application reuse?	Do you need to reuse your PanelView 1000e or 1400e application and PLC ladder logic? If so, you can convert your application for a PanelView Plus terminal using FactoryTalk View Machine Edition (ME) software. The application and PLC ladder logic may require updates because some objects or features may not directly migrate to FactoryTalk View ME software. If you do not want to reuse your current application but instead create a new one with FactoryTalk View ME software, you can stop here.	Reviewing Object Mapping, page 35 Reviewing and Modifying Expressions, page 37 Reviewing Unsupported Features, page 41	
Use multiple RIO racks?	Does your application require more than one rack of discrete Remote I/O? The PanelView Plus terminals support multiple racks of discrete Remote I/O, depending on the scanner type.		
Require relay or beeper?	Does your application use a built-in alarm relay or beeper? The PanelView Plus terminals do not support a built-in alarm relay or beeper. However, you can use an external alarm relay.	Reviewing Terminal Comparisons, page 17	

Migration Consideration	Explanation	For More Information
Required enhanced features?	<ul> <li>Does your application require enhanced features? If so, you can take advantage of the advanced features offered by the PanelView Plus terminals.</li> <li>Functions: trending, data logging, alarming, information and local messages, expressions, security, language switching, recipes, global objects, multiversion support, face plates, graphic libraries, parameter files, rich graphics, and animation.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Communication: Ethernet, ControlNet, DeviceNet, DHPlus, Remote I/O, and third party PLC connectivity.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Hardware: Analog resistive touchscreen, x86 processor, up to 128 MB of application memory, modular display, communication, and logic components, USB support, high-bright display, and stainless steel bezel options.</li> </ul>	
	<ul> <li>Remote connectivity: FTP, Web server, VNC, remote desktop. Applies only to PanelView Plus CE terminals.</li> </ul>	
	• <b>Other</b> : Adobe PDF, PowerPoint, Word, Excel, and MPEG viewers, Internet Explorer (full-featured), various ActiveX controls. Applies only to PanelView Plus CE terminals.	
What are the terminal replacement options?	The terminal replacement options for the PanelView 1000e and 1400e terminals are the PanelView Plus 1250 or 1500 terminals.	Selecting a Terminal Replacement, page 16

The rest of this document steps you through the process of selecting a replacement terminal, migrating, and testing the application.

# **Select a Terminal Replacement**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will select and optionally install a PanelView Plus terminal replacement for your PanelView 1000e or 1400e terminal.
Before You Begin	Review the migration considerations table (chapter 1).
What You Need	Nothing is required.
Follow These Steps	Follow these steps to select a PanelView Plus 1250 or 1500 terminal as a replacement for your PanelView 'e' terminal.



# Selecting a Terminal Replacement

Replacement options for the PanelView 1000e and 1400e terminals include the PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1250 and 1500 terminals. Some of the PanelView Plus terminals fit directly into the existing panel cutout of the PanelView 'e' terminals; others will require an adapter plate.

For this PanelView 'e' terminal	Select one of these replacement terminals	Adapter Plate Required	Adapter Plate Cat. No.
PanelView 1000e touch screen	PanelView Plus 1250 touch screen PanelView Plus CE 1250 touch screen <sup>(1)</sup>	No	—
PanelView 1000e keypad	PanelView Plus 1250 keypad or keypad and touch PanelView Plus CE 1250 keypad or keypad and touch <sup>(1)</sup>	No	—
PanelView 1400e touch screen	PanelView Plus 1250 touch screen PanelView Plus CE 1250 touch screen <sup>(1)</sup>	Yes	2711P-RAT12E
	PanelView Plus 1500 touch screen PanelView Plus CE 1500 touch screen <sup>(1)</sup>	Yes <sup>(2)</sup>	2711P-RAT15
PanelView 1400e keypad	PanelView Plus 1250 keypad or keypad and touch PanelView Plus CE 1250 keypad or keypad and touch <sup>(1)</sup>	Yes	2711P-RAK12E
	PanelView Plus 1500 keypad or keypad and touch PanelView Plus CE 1500 keypad or keypad and touch <sup>(1)</sup>	Yes <sup>(2)</sup>	2711P-RAK15

#### **PanelView Plus Replacement Terminals**

<sup>(1)</sup> The PanelView Plus CE terminal is required if your application requires the set bit cursor point function.

(2) The PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1500 terminal will fit in the existing PanelView 1400e panel cutout. The adapter plate is required only to cover the stud mounting holes.

## Reviewing Terminal Comparisons

Review dimensions and other pertinent information comparing the PanelView 1000e and 1400e keypad and touch terminals with the equivalent PanelView Plus or PanelView Plus CE 1250 or 1500 terminals.

The PanelView Plus 1250 and 1500 terminals are available as preconfigured units or separate modular components. The catalog numbers of the preconfigured units are specific to operator input, display size, communication, power, and memory requirements.

For a list of valid catalog numbers for preconfigured units or modular components of the PanelView Plus terminals, refer to this website:

http://www.ab.com/catalogs/

Attribute	PanelView 1000e	PanelView 1400e	PanelView Plus 1250	PanelView Plus 1500
	Cat. No. 2711e-T10C6	Cat. No. 2711e-T14C6	Cat. No. 2711P-T12C <i>xxx</i>	Cat. No. 2711P-T15C <i>xxx</i>
Depth, approx.	157 mm (6.18 in.)	404 mm (15.9 in.)	55 mm (2.18 in.) <sup>(1)</sup>	65 mm (2.55 in.) <sup>(1)</sup>
Panel cutout, H x W	257 x 338 mm	326 x 391 mm	257 x 338 mm	305 x 391 mm
	10.11 x 13.29 in.	12.85 x 15.375 in.	10.11 x 13.29 in.	12.0 x 15.4 in.
Alarm relay	24V ac, 1 A 24V dc, 1 A	250V ac, 18A 30V dc, 8 A	Requires external relay	Requires external relay
Display	10.4 in. VGA	14.0 in. VGA/SVGA	12.1 in. SVGA	15.1 in. SVGA
	TFT flat panel display	CRT	TFT flat panel display	TFT flat panel display
Operator input	Touch screen	Touch screen	Touch screen	Touch screen

#### **Touch Screen Terminal Comparisons**

<sup>(1)</sup> Optional add-on communication modules will increase the overall depth of the product.

#### **Keypad Terminal Comparisons**

Attribute	PanelView 1000e	PanelView 1400e	PanelView Plus 1250	PanelView Plus 1500
	Cat. No. 2711e-K10C6	Cat. No. 2711e-K14C6	Cat. No. 2711P-K15C <i>xxx</i>	Cat. No. 2711P-K15 <i>xxx</i>
Depth, approx.	156 mm (6.15 in.)	404 mm (15.9 in.)	55 mm (2.18 in.) <sup>(1)</sup>	65 mm (2.55 in.) <sup>(1)</sup>
Panel cutout, H x W	257 x 390 mm	326 x 429 mm	257 x 390 mm	305 x 419 mm
	10.11 x 15.35 in.	12.85 x 16.90 in.	10.11 x 15.35 in.	12.0 x 16.5 in.
Alarm relay	24V ac, 1 A 24V dc, 1 A	250V ac, 8 A 30V dc, 8 A	Requires external relay	Requires external relay
Display	10.4 in. VGA	14.0 in. VGA/SVGA	12.1 in. SVGA	15.1 in. SVGA
	TFT flat panel display	CRT	TFT flat panel display	TFT flat panel display
Operator input	Keypad	Keypad	Keypad	Keypad

<sup>(1)</sup> Optional add-on communication modules will increase the overall depth of the product.

## Installing a PanelView Plus Terminal

Install the selected PanelView Plus 1250 or 1500 terminal into the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout. You may need an adapter plate depending on your terminal selection.

To assist you with the installation, refer to:

- PanelView Plus Terminals and Display Modules Installation Instructions, publication <u>2711P-IN001</u>.
- Appropriate adapter plate installation instructions, if required.

# **Migrate Your Application**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will import your existing PanelBuilder 1400e application into FactoryTalk View Machine Edition (ME) software.
	Different software is used by each PanelView terminal platform to develop applications.
	• PanelView 1000e and 1400e terminals run applications created with PanelBuilder 1400e configuration software.
	• PanelView Plus terminals run applications created with FactoryTalk View ME software.
Before You Begin	• Review the migration considerations table (Chapter 1).
	• Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).
	• Optionally install the PanelView Plus terminal replacement (Chapter 2). You can install the terminal after migrating and testing your application.
What You Need	• FactoryTalk View Studio software
	• PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application file. The application file can reside on your local hard drive or a CompactFlash card.

## **Follow These Steps**

Follow these steps to import your PanelBuilder 1400e application into FactoryTalk View Machine Edition software.



## **Import Application**

**1.** Launch FactoryTalk View Studio software.

0

2. Click the New tab.

**3.** Enter an Application name and click Import.

Follow the steps in this procedure to migrate any PanelView 1000e or 1400e application into FactoryTalk View Machine Edition software.

	C	Set Program Access and Defaults		
	í.	Programs		Accessories
bnal	Ò	Documents	•	Startup Symantec Client Security
Professional		Settings	•	Rockwell Software FactoryTalk View Studio
Prof	P	Search	•	*
Nev	v/Open M	achine Edition Application		X
N	ew Existi	ng		1
	Application r Description:	name:		-

Language:	English (United S	tates), en-US	•
	Create	Import	Cancel

**4.** Read the FactoryTalk View dialogue and click OK.

RSLinx for FactoryTalk does not need to be installed prior to importing your PanelBuilder 1400e application.



**5.** Select PanelBuilder 1400e Application (\*.pvc) and click Next.



- **6.** Click the ... button.
- 7. Browse to and select your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application and click Open.



< Back

Next>

8. Click Next.

Help

Cancel

- Configure the import options based on your replacement terminal.
   Click Help at any time for clarification of each dialog option.
  - a. Check the Convert to new window size checkbox.
  - b. Select the size (in pixels) of your PanelView Plus terminal display as shown in chart.
  - c. Check the Scale graphic displays checkbox.When selected, this setting rescales all displays.
  - d. If your original PanelView e terminal used a touch screen or touch/keypad, check the box under Touch property conversion.
  - e. Click the Help button and read the differences between the caption alignment options and select an option for your new application.
  - f. Click Finish.

The Importing Progress dialog shows the conversion status. This process may take a while, depending on the size of your application. When completed, you will see the Project Status dialog in the next step.



Importing Project: PVe App	
T ag database	
Converting tag database to new version	

10. Review the Project Status dialog and click OK.
 Project Status: PVe App
 RSLinx for FactoryTalk View is not installed, topics not creat Remote Operation Hold time not supported. Screen 10 - SEQ SCROLL LIST: Multistate indicator object

# Project Status: PVe App RSLinx for FactoryTalk View is not installed, topics not created. Remote Operation Hold time not supported. Screen 10 - SEQ SCROLL LIST: Cursor list at (120, 187) not supported. Screen 10 - SEQ SCROLL LIST: Multistate indicator object list at (440, 188) not supported. Screen 10 - SEQ SCROLL LIST: Multistate indicator object list at (350, 188) not supported. Screen 10 - TAG READER: Cursor list at (74, 198) not supported. Screen 10 - TAG READER: Cursor list at (74, 198) not supported. Screen 10 - TAG READER: Cursor list at (7, 25) not supported. Screen 10 - TAG READER: Numeric Keypad converted to Numeric Input enable object at (448, 0). Screen 20 - R0B0T: Cursor list at (13, 120) not supported. Import errors have been logged to C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI Projects\PVe App\convert.log

**11.** Repeat steps 1 through 10 for each PanelBuilder 1400e application you want to migrate to FactoryTalk View ME software.

# **Review the Application Conversion Log**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will review the conversion log generated by FactoryTalk View Machine Edition (ME) software. The results of this log will help you to determine what updates are required in your converted application.
Before You Begin	<ul> <li>Review migration considerations (Chapter 1).</li> <li>Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Install the PanelView Plus terminal in the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Import your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application into FactoryTalk View ME software (Chapter 3).</li> </ul>
What You Need	<ul> <li>A PanelBuilder 1400e application migrated into FactoryTalk View ME software. This was done in Chapter 3.</li> <li>The new name given the migrated application in FactoryTalk View ME software. This was done in Chapter 3.</li> <li>Conversion log generated by the FactoryTalk View ME import wizard.</li> </ul>

## **Follow These Steps**

Follow this path to review changes that are required to your FactoryTalk View ME application.



## **About the Conversion Log**

The application conversion log is generated by the Import Wizard when you import your PanelBuilder 1400e application into FactoryTalk View ME software. This log provides detailed information about objects or features that did not convert directly from your PanelBuilder 1400e application. Use this log as a guide to update your application accordingly. Modifications to the application are required to verify that the application will operate correctly in FactoryTalk View ME software.

IMPORTANT	It is important that you review each object and feature in the
	converted application to verify that each will function as expected. Because objects or features may not map directly
	into FactoryTalk View ME software, you may need to update your ladder logic to achieve the same operational results as
	your PanelBuilder 1400e application.

## **Open the Conversion Log**

**1.** Navigate to this folder location.

2. Double-click the HMI

you created.

software.

project folder that contains

the new application name

You entered this name in the import wizard when

1400e application into FactoryTalk View ME

importing your PanelBuilder

The conversion log is stored with the new application that you created when importing your PanelBuilder 1400e application into FactoryTalk View ME software.

Follow these steps to locate the conversion log.

C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\

TIP

All of your FactoryTalk View ME applications will be located in this folder. This includes new or imported applications.



**3.** Double-click the convert.log file generated by the import wizard when you imported your application.

Your convert.log file will vary from the example shown.

🖻 convert - Notepad	
File Edit Format View Help	
BLING for FactoryTalk View is not installed, topics not created. Remote operation Hold time not supported. Screen 10 - SEQ SCHOLL LIST: Cursor Tist at (120, 137) not supported. Screen 10 - SEQ SCHOLL LIST: Multistate indicator object Tist at (330, 188) not supported. Screen 16 - MODEL SELECT: Cursor Tist at (54, 198) not supported. Screen 16 - MODEL SELECT: Cursor Tist at (54, 198) not supported. Screen 18 - TAG EADER: Numeric Kappad converted to Numeric Input enable object at (448, 0). Import enrors have been longed to CiVbocuments and SettingX-UI users/bocuments/ksview Enterprise/MEL/MI press/bocuments/ksview Enterprise/MEL/MI press/bocume	Projects\PVe App\convert.log

## **Review the Conversion Log**

The conversion log contains a list of messages from warnings, errors, and unsupported features or objects in the converted application. You can compare these messages to those in the table below for information on why the message was logged.

Most conversion log messages identify these attributes for a FactoryTalk View ME object:

- Display name
- Position (x,y) of the object
- New graphic object name

You can use this information to locate the object and make required modifications. The description for a message may reference a workaround in this document.

#### IMPORTANT

Some features or objects are no longer supported in FactoryTalk View ME software. However, new features or objects are available providing the same or enhanced functionality.

Match the messages in the conversion log with the messages in the table. The Display Name, Object Name, and Position Text references in the messages are unique for each application.

#### **Conversion Log Messages**

Message	Applies to this PanelBuilder 1400e object	Description
Blinking wallpaper objects not supported. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	<ul><li>Image</li><li>Text</li><li>Drawing</li></ul>	<ul> <li>A PanelBuilder 1400e object with blink set to true was converted to wallpaper.</li> <li>At runtime, the PanelView 'e' object would blink.</li> <li>In FactoryTalk View ME software, the object will not blink at runtime because wallpaper objects are disabled.</li> </ul>
Screen Select Keypad converted to a default Display List Selector. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	Screen Select Keypad	A PanelBuilder 1400e display contained a Screen Select Keypad object. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Screen Select Keypad object so converts it to a default Display List Selector, which needs to be configured.
Screen Keypad Enable converted to a default Display List Selector. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	Screen Select Keypad	A PanelBuilder 1400e display contained a Screen Keypad Enable object. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Screen Keypad Enable object so converts it to a default Display List Selector, which needs to be configured.

Message	Applies to this PanelBuilder 1400e object	Description
"Fixed Position" decimal point display option not supported. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	<ul> <li>Numeric Input Cursor Point</li> <li>Numeric Data Display</li> </ul>	The object has its Decimal Point Display option set to Fixed Position. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support an option to display a decimal point in a numeric value. You can achieve the same result using an expression. For information on a workaround, refer to page 82.
"PLC Controlled" decimal point display option not supported. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	<ul> <li>Numeric Input Cursor Point</li> <li>Numeric Data Display</li> </ul>	The object has its Decimal Point Display option set to PLC Controlled. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support an option to display a decimal point in a numeric value. You can achieve the same result using an expression. For information on a workaround, refer to page 81.
"Fixed Position" decimal point input option not supported. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	<ul> <li>Numeric Input Cursor Point</li> <li>Numeric Keypad Enable</li> <li>Numeric Keypad object</li> </ul>	The object has its Decimal Point Input option set to Fixed Position. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support an option to input a decimal point in a numeric value. You can achieve the same result using an expression. For information on a workaround, refer to page 82.
"PLC Controlled" decimal point input option not supported. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	<ul> <li>Numeric Input Cursor Point</li> <li>Numeric Keypad Enable</li> <li>Numeric Keypad</li> </ul>	The object has its Decimal Point Input option set to PLC Controlled. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support an option to input a decimal point in a numeric value. You can achieve the same result using an expression. For information on a workaround, refer to page 81.
"Decimal Key Controlled" decimal point input option not supported. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	<ul> <li>Numeric Input Cursor Point</li> <li>Numeric Keypad Enable</li> <li>Numeric Keypad</li> </ul>	The object has its Decimal Point Input option set to Decimal Key Controlled. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support an option to input a decimal point in a numeric value. You can achieve the same result using an expression. For information on a workaround, refer to page 81.
Numeric Keypad converted to a Numeric Input Enable. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	Numeric Keypad	The display contains a Numeric Keypad object. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Numeric Keypad object so converts it to a Numeric Input Enable, which needs to be configured.

#### **Conversion Log Messages**

#### **Conversion Log Messages**

Message	Applies to this PanelBuilder 1400e object	Description
Date labels not supported on Trend's X-Axis. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	Trend	A trend has one or more of its minimum, median or maximum date labels enabled. The FactoryTalk View ME trend displays the current date in its title. It does not display the minimum, median or maximum date as part of its X-axis.
Blinking pens not supported by Trend. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	Trend	A trend had one or more of its pens configured to blink. The FactoryTalk View ME trend does not allow any of its pens to blink.
Background screen plotting of pens using expressions not supported by Trend. <object name=""> at <position> on <display name="">.</display></position></object>	Trend	A trend has one of its pens configured to use background screen plotting and has an expression assigned to the Pen Value control. The FactoryTalk View ME trend supports background screen plotting by adding the tags assigned to the Pen1 to Pen8 controls to a Data Log Model. You cannot add expressions to a Data Log Model.
Cursor List object at <pv 'e'="" position=""> on <display name=""> not supported.</display></pv>	Cursor List	A display contains a Cursor List object. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Cursor List object so does not convert it. See page 68 for a workaround.
Multistate Indicator Object List at <pv 'e'="" position=""> on <display name=""> not supported.</display></pv>	Multistate Indicator Object List	A display contains a Multistate Indicator Object List. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Multistate Indicator Object List so does not convert it. See page 56 for a workaround.
Local Message Object List at <pv 'e'="" position=""> on <display name=""> not supported.</display></pv>	Local Message Object List.	A display contained a Local Message Object List. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Local Message Object List so does not convert it. See page 60 for a workaround.
Numeric Data Display Object List at <pv 'e'="" position=""> on <display name=""> not supported.</display></pv>	Numeric Data Display Object List	A display contains a Numeric Data Display Object List. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a Numeric Data Display Object List so does not convert it. See page 64 for a workaround.
Multi-Line Alarm Window blinking not supported by [ALARM] display.	Alarm Configuration	<ul> <li>The Alarm Message Window is enabled with:</li> <li>Multi-line set.</li> <li>Blink enabled.</li> <li>The multiline Alarm Window is converted to a FactoryTalk View ME software [ALARM] display containing an Alarm List object.</li> </ul>

Message	Applies to this PanelBuilder 1400e object	Description
"PLC Controlled Audio" alarm control not supported.	Alarm Configuration	The PLC Controlled Audio control has a tag assigned.
		FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a PLC Controlled Audio alarm control so does not convert it.
"PLC Controlled Relay" alarm control not supported.	Alarm Configuration	The PLC Controlled Relay control has a tag assigned.
		FactoryTalk View ME software does not support a PLC Controlled Relay alarm control so does not convert it.
Alarm message "Relay" option not supported.	Alarm Message Configuration	One or more relay flags has been enabled for alarm messages.
		FactoryTalk View ME software does not support the triggering of a relay when an alarm is triggered so will not convert this feature.
Only one hold time is used for alarming. "Remote Alarm Operation	Alarm Configuration	One or more of these controls has a tag assigned: • Silence Alarms to PLC
Hold Time" not supported.		Clear Window to PLC
		OTY/TIME Reset to PLC
		Message to PLC
		FactoryTalk View ME software supports only one hold time for alarming and this will be set to the value of the PanelView 'e' Remote Alarm Ack Control Hold Time. The value of the PanelView 'e' Remote Alarm Operation Hold Time does not convert.
"Remote Alarm Control Delay Time" not supported.	Alarm Configuration	These controls have a tag assigned: • Acknowledge to PLC
		Acknowledge Control
		Message to PLC
		In FactoryTalk View ME software, if the Ack control is assigned to an alarm trigger, the terminal will immediately set the Ack control without waiting for a delay time when the alarm is acknowledged. The Remote Alarm Control Delay Time does not convert.
Bit Acknowledging of alarms not supported.	Alarm Configuration	The Alarm Acknowledge to PLC option is set to Bit and the Acknowledge to PLC control has one or more tags assigned. FactoryTalk View ME software does not support bit acknowledging of alarms so does not convert the Acknowledge to PLC tags.
Screen security settings not converted for <display name="">.</display>	Secure Screen Configuration	A screen has one or more Authorize Operator settings enabled. Screen security is not converted. FactoryTalk View ME software does support display security. Security is configured differently.
RSLinx for FactoryTalk View is not installed, topics not created.	Communication	You need to recreate the shortcut name to the PLC in RSLinx Enterprise software under Communication Setup.
<panelview 'e'="" name="" tag=""> converted to memory tag, as its address is blank.</panelview>		Any PanelView 'e' Remote I/O tag with a blank address is converted to an HMI memory tag.

#### **Conversion Log Messages**

Message	Applies to this PanelBuilder 1400e object	Description
<panelview 'e'="" name="" tag=""> converted to memory tag, as its data type is not supported.</panelview>		<ul> <li>Any PanelView 'e' Remote I/O tags with these data types are converted to HMI memory tags.</li> <li>1 Digit BCD</li> <li>2 Digit BCD</li> <li>3 Digit BCD</li> <li>5 Digit BCD</li> <li>6 Digit BCD</li> <li>7 Digit BCD</li> </ul>
<panelview 'e'="" name="" tag=""> converted to memory tag, as the "Bit Position" data type is not supported.</panelview>		If the data type of a PanelView 'e' Remote I/O tag is bit position but the address does not reference a single bit, the tag is converted to an HMI memory tag.
<panelview 'e'="" name="" tag=""> converted to memory tag, as its addresses references an undefined rack.</panelview>		If a PanelView 'e' Remote I/O tag has an address with an undefined rack, the tag is converted to an HMI memory tag.
<panelview 'e'="" name="" tag=""> converted to memory tag, as its addresses is invalid.</panelview>		If a PanelView 'e' Remote I/O tag does not have a valid I/O address or block transfer address, the tag is converted to an HMI memory tag.

# **Review Object Mapping**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will review how objects and expressions from PanelBuilder 1400 software map to FactoryTalk View Machine Edition (ME) software.
Before You Begin	<ul> <li>Review migration considerations (Chapter 1).</li> <li>Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Optionally install the PanelView Plus terminal in the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Import your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application into FactoryTalk View ME software (Chapter 3).</li> <li>Review the conversion log for your migrated application (Chapter 4).</li> </ul>
What You Need	<ul> <li>A PanelBuilder 1400e application migrated into FactoryTalk ME software.</li> <li>Conversion log generated by the FactoryTalk View ME Import Wizard.</li> </ul>

## **Follow These Steps**

Follow these steps to review how PanelBuilder 1400e objects and expressions map to FactoryTalk View ME software. This information will help you correct application errors listed in the conversion log.



## **Reviewing Object Mapping**

This table identifies PanelBuilder 1400e graphic objects that migrate into a FactoryTalk View ME application.

**IMPORTANT** It is important that you verify the function of all objects after importing your application to FactoryTalk View ME software. New objects may not function as expected.

#### Mapping Objects Between PanelBuilder 1400e and FactoryTalk View ME Software

This PanelBuilder 1400e object	Maps to this FactoryTalk View ME object	Explanation
Increment Value Button	Ramp Button	
Decrement Value Button	Ramp Button	
Increment Value Button with Display	Ramp Button and Numeric Display	
Decrement Value Button with Display	Ramp Button and Numeric Display	
Small and Large ASCII Input	String Input Enable	
Arc with Fill Style set to Solid	ME Arc and ME Line	The PanelBuilder 1400e object is a closed shape; the View ME object is not closed between the arc of two points.
Screen List Selector	Screen List Selector	
Screen List Selector Enter Button	Enter List Key	
Screen List Selector Down Cursor Button	Move Down List Key	
Screen List Selector Up Cursor Button	Move Up List Key	
Control List Selector	Control List Selector	
Control List Selector Enter Button	Enter List Key	
Control List Selector Down Cursor Button	Move Down List Key	
Control List Selector Up Cursor Button	Move Up List Key	
Small and Large Screen Select Keypad	Display List Selector	You will need to configure this object to change to the appropriate displays.
Screen Keypad Enable	Display List Selector	You will need to configure this object to change to the appropriate displays.
Goto Screen Button	Goto Display Button	
Return to Previous Screen Button	Return to Display Button	
ASCII Display	String Display	
Numeric Keypad Enable Button	Numeric Input Enable Button	
Normally Open Momentary Push Button	Momentary Push Button	
Normally Closed Momentary Push Button	Momentary Push Button	

This PanelBuilder 1400e object	Maps to this FactoryTalk View ME object	Explanation
Multistate Indicators	Multistate Indicators	
Numeric Display	Numeric Display	
Screen Print Button	Screen Print Button	
Time Display	Time and Date Display	Set to show time only.
Date Display	Time and Date Display	Set to show date only.
Alarm History Sort By Time/Sort By Value	Sort Alarms Button	
Alarm Status Reset Oty/Time Button	Reset Alarm Status Button	
Alarm Panel	Alarm Banner	
Single Line Alarm Window	Alarm Banner	
Alarm Status Screen	Alarm Status List	
Local Messages	Local Messages	
Information Messages	Information Messages	
Bar Graphs	Bar Graphs	
Trend	Trend	
Text	Text	
Drawing Objects	Drawing Objects	
ISA Symbols	ISA Symbols	
Bitmaps, DXF Images	Bitmaps, DXF Images	
Digital and String Tag Types	Bit and String Tag Types	
Supported Analog Tag Types:	Supported Analog Tag Types:	
<ul> <li>Unsigned Integer</li> </ul>	Unsigned Integer	
<ul> <li>Integer</li> </ul>	Integer	
<ul> <li>Long Integer</li> </ul>	Long Integer	
Floating Point	Floating Point	
• Byte	• Byte	
• 3-BCD, 4-BCD, 8-BCD	• 3-BCD, 4-BCD	
Supported communication: • DH Plus	<ul><li>Supported communications:</li><li>DH Plus</li></ul>	
<ul> <li>Remote I/O multirack</li> </ul>	Remote I/O multirack	
ControlNet	ControlNet	
File transfers occur over DH+ or ControlNet networks.	File transfers occur over DH+ or ControlNet networks. No bridging network protocols.	
File transfers use a memory card.	File transfers use a CompactFlash card.	

#### Mapping Objects Between PanelBuilder 1400e and FactoryTalk View ME Software
# Reviewing and Modifying Expressions

If any objects in your PanelView 1000e or 1400e application contain expressions, you need to review the order of precedence in each expression. The order of precedence may be different between PanelBuilder 1400e software and FactoryTalk View ME software.

The table compares the order of precedence in expressions between PanelBuilder 1400e and FactoryTalk View ME software.

#### IMPORTANT

**NT** The text "--check and reuse as needed--" precedes all migrated expressions. Remove this text from each expression and verify the order of precedence.

The conversion log does not indicate which objects contained expressions with the "--check and reuse as needed---"" text. Refer to Appendix A. Tag substitution provides a method of identifying if a display contains expressions that require updates. The object explorer section also describes how to highlight objects with expressions on the display.

Expressions: Order of Precedence		
PanelBuilder 1400e Software	FactoryTalk View ME Software	
()	()	
- (negation)	NOT, ~ (tilde)	
*, / (floating point division)	*, /, MOD, %, **, AND, &&, &, >>, <<	
\(integer point division)	+, -, OR,   ,   ^	
MOD	EQ, = =, NE, <>, LT, <, GT, >, LE, <=. GE. =>	
+, - (subtraction)	Unchanged	
+, <>, <>, <=, >+	Unchanged	
NOT	Unchanged	
And	Unchanged	
Or	Unchanged	
Xor	Unchanged	

## **Review Unsupported Features and Implement Workarounds for Migration Issues**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will review unsupported features in FactoryTalk View Machine Edition (ME) software and workarounds for common migration issues. This will help you to resolve errors in the migrated application.
Before You Begin	<ul> <li>Review migration considerations (Chapter 1).</li> <li>Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Optionally install the PanelView Plus terminal in the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Import your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application into FactoryTalk View ME software (Chapter 3).</li> <li>Review the conversion log for your migrated application (Chapter 4).</li> <li>Review object and expression mapping (Chapter 5).</li> </ul>
What You Need	<ul> <li>A migrated PanelBuilder 1400 application into FactoryTalk ME software.</li> <li>Conversion log generated by the FactoryTalk View ME Import Wizard.</li> </ul>

### **Follow These Steps**

Follow this path to review unsupported features in FactoryTalk View ME software and workarounds for common migration issues.



### Reviewing Unsupported Features

Some PanelBuilder 1400e objects or features are not supported in FactoryTalk View Machine Edition software. Compare the conversion log with the information on unsupported features to assist with updates to your migrated application. Additional information is provided where it is possible to achieve the same result using another option or work around in your migrated application.

For this PanelBuilder 1400e object	These features are unsupported in FactoryTalk View ME software	Additional Information	
Trend	Blinking Pens		
	Date Labels on X-Axis	Date is displayed in the trend title.	
	Background Screen Plotting	You can plot tag values in the background by assigning the tags to a data log model. Tags configured for background screen plotting are automatically assigned to a data log model on conversion. However, data log models do not plot expression values. Expressions configured for background screen plotting are not converted.	
Scrolling List Objects • Cursor List	Blank States	For information on replacement objects in FactoryTalk View ME software, refer to page 47.	
Multistate Indicator Object List			
Local Message Object List			
Numeric Data Display Object List			
Set Bit Cursor Point	Object Not Supported	For information on replacement objects , refer to ID: 44265 in the Knowledgebase and also to page 68.	
Numeric Display	Polarity	If a PanelBuilder 1400e application was configured with the polarity control requiring a negative number to display the minus sign, the numeric display will not work properly after the application is converted.	
	Implicit	The implicit option in a PanelBuilder 1400e application is converted to a fixed position in the new object. Review these objects to verify that the number of digits and decimal places are adequate for displaying the correct value.	
Numeric Input Cursor Point	Fixed Position Decimal	Fixed Position Decimal will convert correctly. You need to remove the comments from the expressions.	
	PLC Controlled Decimal Display	PLC Controlled Decimal Display may or may not convert correctly. For information on a workaround in FactoryTalk View ME software, refer to page 81.	
	Retain Cursor on Cancel		
Goto Configure Mode Button	Object not converted		

For this PanelBuilder 1400e object	These features are unsupported in FactoryTalk View ME software	Additional Information
Wallpaper, Image, Text, Arc, Ellipse, Line, Panel, Rectangle, Wedge	Blink Property	<ul> <li>If you want an object to blink at runtime, unlock the wallpaper. In FactoryTalk View ME software, all of the list objects except images and panels use color animation to blink.</li> <li>Panels use the blink property to blink.</li> <li>Color images do not blink.</li> <li>Monochrome images use the blink property to blink.</li> </ul>
All Objects	Object Names	Object names are replaced with default object names in FactoryTalk View ME software. The PanelBuilder 1400e object name is used for the object's description. You can view and edit the name and description in the property panel.
	Caption and Image Placement	<ul> <li>FactoryTalk View ME software supports one, three, or nine positions for captions and images, depending on the type of object. On conversion, captions and images are positioned using the closest match.</li> <li>Some captions might:</li> <li>overlap images.</li> </ul>
		be truncated.
		• be clipped to fit the object.
		Realign or resize objects for best fit.
	Multiple Image Labels	FactoryTalk View ME software supports one image label per object or state. If a PanelBuilder 1400e object is configured to use multiple image labels, only the top left image is converted. Create a single image from multiple ones.
	Text Overlap	Change the border width or resize objects.
	Expressions	<ul> <li>Expressions are converted without modification and then commented.</li> <li>Warning text is placed at the beginning of the first line of the expression.</li> </ul>
		• Exclamation marks (!) are placed at the beginning of each subsequent line of the expression.
		To enable the expression, you must remove the warning text and exclamation marks, and revise the syntax if necessary.
Expression Length	Expression Length	The maximum length of expressions in FactoryTalk View ME software is 1024 characters. If a PanelBuilder 1400e expression contains more than 1024 characters, the excess characters are not converted. Modify the expressions as needed.

For this PanelBuilder 1400e object	These features are unsupported in FactoryTalk View ME software	Additional Information	
All Displays	Display Names	In FactoryTalk View ME software, unsupported characters in display names are replaced with the underscore character.	
	Graphic Alignment	The graphics may not line up and appear properly. Resize graphics as needed.	
Remote Alarm Ack	Bit Array Data Types	Workaround with ladder logic change by using the ack value to indirectly change a tag in an array.	
Alarming Controls	Acknowledge To PLC Control		
	Remote Alarm Control Delay Time	When an alarm is acknowledged in the FactoryTalk View ME application, the Ack control, if assigned, is set immediately, without waiting for a delay time.	
		Update the ladder logic to implement a delay timer in PLC.	
	PLC Controlled Relay Control	The terminal does not have a relay. Use the PLC controller to turn on device.	
	PLC Controlled Audio Control	The terminal does not have audio. Use the PLC controller to turn on a horn.	
	Blinking Alarm Messages		
	Alarm Relays	The terminal does not have a relay. Use the PLC controller to turn on device.	
	Remote Alarm Operation Hold Time	The PanelBuilder 1400e Remote Alarm Ack Control Hold Time will be used for all alarm hold times. You can change the hold time in the Advanced tab of the Alarm Setup editor in FactoryTalk View ME software.	
	Alarm Handshaking		
	Message Handshake Control		
Security	Runtime Password Changes	In the PanelBuilder 1400e software, user passwords are set up in the configuration mode screens. FactoryTalk View ME software requires the Change Password button on a display.	
	Display Security Settings	FactoryTalk View ME software uses a different method to assign security to graphic displays. You must reapply security. The software uses a logon system of security similar to RSView32 software. Once logged on, the operator does not need to re-enter the password until manually logged off, or optionally after an idle time.	

For this PanelBuilder 1400e object	These features are unsupported in FactoryTalk View ME software	Additional Information	
Communications (RIO)	Passthrough Downloads	Use an Ethernet connection or a CompactFlash card to transfer files.	
	Remote I/O Connector Wiring	The Remote I/O connector wiring for the PanelView Plus terminal is reversed from the PanelView 1000e and 1400e terminals.	
	Remote I/O Tag with Blank Address	Remote I/O tags with blank addresses are converted to HMI memory tags. An error is recorded in the conversion log.	
Data Types	Bit Position	<ul> <li>If a bit position data type does not reference a single bit, it is converted to an HMI memory tag. An error is recorded in the conversion log.</li> <li>Create an expression to isolate the bits used to drive the state of the display object, such as a multistate indicator. For information on how to implement this workaround, refer to page 80.</li> </ul>	
		• For write objects, such as push buttons, there is no workaround except to change the ladder logic.	
		<ul> <li>For Remote I/O, you may need to change the Rack/Block Transfer configuration.</li> </ul>	
		• For DH+ and ControlNet, unscheduled tags with the bit position data type are converted to HMI analog tags with a data type of default.	
	Binary	<ul> <li>A binary tag is converted to an HMI memory tag if it does not reference:</li> <li>a single bit.</li> </ul>	
		• a single word.	
		<ul> <li>a length or range of 8 or 16 bits and does not start at an offset of 0 or 8 (SLC controller) or 10 (PLC-5 controller).</li> </ul>	
		An error is recorded in the conversion log.	
		<ul> <li>Create an expression to isolate the bits used to drive the state of display object, such as a multistate indicator.</li> </ul>	
		• For write objects such as push buttons, there is no workaround.	
	BCD	BCD data types are not supported: 1-BCD, 2-BCD, 5-BCD, 6-BCD, 7-BCD, 8-BCD.	
		Tags that use this data type are converted to analog tags with the default data type. The default data type uses floating point values.	
	Byte	If the byte address does not have a bit offset of 0 or 8, it is converted to an HMI memory tag. The error is recorded in the conversion log	

For this PanelBuilder 1400e object	These features are unsupported in FactoryTalk View ME software	Additional Information	
Data Types	Block Tags	Block tags monitor alarms in PanelBuilder 1400e applications and are converted to bit arrays. An error is recorded in the conversion log.	
	Analog Tags with One Bit Length	PanelBuilder 1400e analog tags that are one bit in length (0 is min, 1 is max) convert to analog tags in FactoryTalk View ME software, but the value is 0 and -1 (all bits off, all bits on). This feature is typically used for indicator objects with two states. In a FactoryTalk View application, this results in an incorrect state. Change analog tags to bit data types. Important: No message appears in the conversion	
		log. Modify any analog tags that are one bit in length.	
File Transfers	Transfer Inhibit	These three controls are not necessary in FactoryTalk View ME software because the transfer utility lets you transfer the runtime project file while running a project on the runtime terminal.	
	Transfer Request		
	Transfer Status		
Design Time Features	Tag Cross-Reference		
	Screen Captures		
	Application Validation		
	Application memory usage calculation		
	Saving applications to a user specified location		
	Tag Search and Replace	Use tag substitution on each page or see Knowledgebase ID: 29942. RSView Graphic Tags Search and Replace using Graphics XML Exported Files	
	Default Object/Graphic Display Settings		
Power Up Options	Write Last Terminal State to Controller		

### Reviewing Common Migration Issues and Workarounds

Some graphic objects, data types, and other features do not migrate directly into FactoryTalk View ME software. The most common migration issues relate to these objects or features:

- Scrolling list objects
- Cursor list objects
- Set bit cursor point objects
- Bit position data type
- PLC controlled or fixed position decimal
- Retain last state
- Ladder logic updates to support visible states

FactoryTalkView ME software provides replacement objects and workarounds that provide the same if not similar functionality.

### Required Files and Utilities The Rockwell

The Rockwell Automation Knowledgebase document contains files and utilities to simplify the migration process.

Document ID: 44265 Document Title: Migrating PanelView Enhanced Terminal Applications

Download the Migration Solutions.zip attachment containing the required files and utilities. This file contains a Migration Solutions.apa demo project, the tag converter wizard utility, and a set bit cursor point ActiveX Control.

• **Migration solutions demo project** contains replacement objects for the cursor list, local message list, multisate indicator object list, numeric data display object list and the set bit cursor point. You can import these displays into your converted application, copy the objects, and then configure them.

To see how the set bit cusror point works, click the Display Test Run button on the set bit cursor point display.

- **Tag converter wizard utility** optimizes tags in the converted application. To improve performance, the utility converts HMI tags to alias or direct reference tags.
- Set bit cursor point ActiveX control replaces the set bit cursor point object in the converted application. To activate this control, it needs to be registered on our computer and the PanelView Plus CE terminal

### Replacing Scrolling List Objects

Scrolling list objects in PanelBuilder 1400e software consists of a cursor list and one or more object lists. The operator can move through a maximum of 999 items within these object lists.

Scrolling lists can multiplex PLC output data to the PanelView 'e' terminal, minimizing the ladder logic required to display and edit large amounts of data.

FactoryTalk View ME software does not support scrolling list objects. but does provide replacement objects to perform the same operations.

Replace this PanelView 'e' object With this FactoryTalk View ME object		See
Cursor List	ursor List	
	Key buttons	• Page 53
	Terminal function keys	Page 55
Multistate Indicator Object List	Multistate Indicator	Page 56
Local Message Object List	Local Message	Page 60
Numeric Data Display Object List	Numeric Data Display	Page 64

#### **Replacement Objects for Scrolling List Objects**

### **Replacing the Cursor List**

Replacement objects for the cursor list object in FactoryTalk View ME software are the piloted control list selector, key objects, and terminal function keys.

- The piloted control list selector replaces the cursor list.
- The key objects provide on-screen navigation for the list such as up cursor, down cursor, and the enter key.
- The terminal function keys are assigned to the key objects allowing the operator to navigate the list on keypad terminals.

#### **Create a Piloted Control List Selector**

Follow these steps to replace the cursor list object with a piloted control list selector.

- 1. Select Objects>Advanced>Piloted Control List Selector.
- **2.** Draw and size the object on your display.



- **3.** Double-click the piloted control list selector object to open its properties.
- **4.** In the Border style pull-down list, select None so when this object is grouped it appears as a single object.
- **5.** In the Number of states pull-down list, select the number of states to match the original PanelBuilder 1400e cursor list object.
- 6. Set the Back color to match the background properties of the original cursor list object.
- 7. Set the Selection back color to match the foreground properties of the original cursor list object.
- **8.** Under Other, verify that all boxes are unchecked.
- 9. Click the States tab.

General States Timing Common Connections	
Border style: None Pattern style: None	Border uses back color     Back color     Border color     Pattern color     Selection back color     Selection fore color     Blink
Text Font: Size: PV Small ▼ 15 ▼ <b>B I</b> <u>U</u>	Caption truncate: Word Character
Number of states	
Other Write on enter Key navigation Wrap around	
OK Cancel	Apply Help

#### **10.** Configure each state.

- a. Select a state.
- b. Enter a Value that matches the state value of the original cursor list.
- c. Select an Access option for the state.

The default access is Operator and Remote. This option provides the same functionality as the original cursor list.

Select None for any state that was a skipped state in the original cursor list.

d. Repeat a to c for each state that was in the original cursor list object.



Access Options	Description	
Operator and Remote	Both the operator and the controller can select the state. This is the default.	
Operator	Only an operator can select the state.	
Remote	The state can only be selected remotely.	
None	The state cannot be selected. This is equivalent to a skipped state in the original cursor list. When the operator scrolls to a skipped state in a PanelBuilder 1400e application, the list skips past the state. Because the operator cannot select the state, the state value is never written to the object's Cursor Indicator to PLC connection.	
	When the operator scrolls to a None state in a FactoryTalk View ME application, the cursor becomes hollow to indicate that the state is invalid. Because the state cannot be selected, the state value is never written to the object's Value connection.	

- **11.** Click the Connections tab.
- **12.** Assign a tag or expression to each connection as needed.

The table below cross references each connection.

**13.** Click OK when done.

General States	Timing Co	mmon Connections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Value	+		***	
Indicator	+		***	•••
Remote Access	+		•••	••••
Top Position	+		•••	
Visible States	+		•••	
Enter	+		•••	
Enter Handshake	+		•••	

#### **Mapping Piloted Control List Selector Connections**

PanelBuilder 1400e tag connection maps To	This FactoryTalk View ME connection	Connection Type	Description
Cursor Indicator to PLC	Value	Read and Write	<ul> <li>When a display that includes a piloted control list selector is opened and the operator has control of the list, the application reads the Value connection to determine what state to select. When the operator selects a valid state, the state's value is written to the Value connection. The application does not read the Value connection at any other time.</li> <li>If the list is remotely controlled, you do not need to assign the Value connection. The remote controller uses the Indicator connection to select a state. If the Value connection is assigned, the value of the selected state is written to the Value connection.</li> <li>If the Write on enter checkbox is checked (on the General tab), the application does not write to the Value connection until the operator selects a state and presses Enter.</li> <li>If the Write on enter checkbox is not checked (on the General tab), the</li> </ul>
			application writes to the Value connection as soon as a state is selected. The Enter and Enter Handshake controls are ignored.
Cursor Control from PLC	Indicator	Read	When the list is remotely controlled, this connection is used to select a state in the list.
Enable PLC to Controlled List	Remote Access	Read	This connection determines whether the operator or a remote controller selects states in the list. If you assign a tag or an expression to this connection, the object is remotely controlled. The object is remotely controlled if the tag or expression is assigned to a nonzero value.
			If you do not assign this connection or if the connection is assigned and set to a value of 0, the object is controlled by the operator.
Top Position to PLC	Top Position	Write	When the list scrolls, the value of the top visible state in the list is written to the Top Position tag.

PanelBuilder 1400e tag connection maps To	This FactoryTalk View ME connection	Connection Type	Description
	Visible States	Write	Assign an array tag to this connection. When the list scrolls, the values of the visible states are written to the array tag. The first visible state is written to the first element of the array tag, the second visible state is written to the second element of the array tag, and so on. The length of the array tag must be equal to the number of visible states in the object.
			The syntax of the array tag depends on the type of OPC data server the application is using. If you are using RSLinx Enterprise software, you must use this syntax. Syntax: [shortcut]tagname,Larraylength Example: [PLC5]N7:0,L5
			Do not leave a space between the tag address and the length. Correct: [PLC5]N7:0,L5 Incorrect: [PLC5]N7:0, L5
			In PanelBuilder 1400e software, an individual tag is assigned to each visible state. In FactoryTalk View ME software, you cannot assign an individual tag to each visible state. If an action is required when the operator selects a visible state, you must update the ladder logic. You must use a direct reference for this assignment. You cannot use an HMI tag.
			For details on how to implement the workaround for visible states, refer to Ladder Logic Changes on page 86.
Enter Key Control <sup>(1)</sup>	Enter	Write	This connection accepts values of 0 or 1. The connection determines how long the Enter key press is registered. Use this connection for Enter key handshaking.
Enter Handshake <sup>(1)</sup>	Enter Handshake	Handshake	This connection resets the Enter connection using the Handshake reset type property specified on the Timing tab. Use this connection for Enter key handshaking if you want the Enter connection to be reset when a value at the data source changes.
			If you assign an expression, the application calculates the value of the expression and resets the Enter connection when the expression value meets the conditions of the Handshake reset type option.

#### **Mapping Piloted Control List Selector Connections**

<sup>(1)</sup> Available only when you enable the cursor list enter button.

#### **Retain Last State**

PanelBuilder 1400e software has a Retain the Last State feature for the cursor list object.

- When you return to a display with the cursor list object and this feature is enabled, the last selected state is retained and reselected.
- When you return to a display with the cursor list object and this feature is disabled, the selected state is determined by the value read at the Cursor Indicator to PLC connection.

The piloted control list selector in FactoryTalk View ME software does not have an equivalent feature to Retain the Last State. The object always reads the Value connection to determine what state to select. For information on a workaround for this functionality, refer to page 83.

#### **Resize the Piloted Control List Selector**

You need to resize the piloted control list selector to make it appear visually the same as the cursor list object.

Resize the object so that only the cursor is visible.





To hide the white line next to the cursor, place a line object over it, and assign a background color that matches the list. The covered line will not be visible to the operator. Group the objects so when the object is resized, the line remains hidden.

### Assign Navigation Keys to Piloted Control List Selector

In PanelBuilder 1400e software, you use key objects and terminal funtion keys to navigate through the cursor list. FactoryTalk View ME software provides similar objects and keys to navigate through the piloted control list selector.

#### **Mapping Key Objects**

This key object in FactoryTalk View ME software	Replaces this cursor list button in PanelBuilder 1400e software	
Move Up	Up Cursor	
Move Down	Down Cursor	
Page Up	Page Up	
Page Down	Page Down	
Home	Home	
End	End	
Enter	Enter	

**1.** Open the display with piloted control list selector.

2. Select Objects>Key> and an option, then draw the object on the display.

You can use all of the objects on the key submenu to navigate a piloted control list selector, except for Backspace. Follow these steps to create key objects for the piloted control list selector.

- File Edit View Objects Arrange Animation Application Tools Windo 🖬 🖬 🎒 📔 🖌 Select Rotate L L L Q G XE 10 Drawing . 000000 N O A & Push Button . 🔟 🕥 😫 🗉 x \* Numeric and String Display Navigation di - 🦪 Local (NV Indicator 🖻 👧 FordA Gauge and Graph . 🔒 Fo Trending . RecipePlus Þ Backspace End Advanc<u>e</u>d Enter ActiveX Control... Home È Import... Move Left Graphics Move Right Displays Move Down **Global Objects** Move Up Libraries Page Down Images ŧ, Parameters Page Up anal Maas
- Repeat step 2 until the display contains all of the required navigation keys.
   This example shows all keys assigned to the piloted control list selector.
- **4.** Link each key to the piloted control list selector.
  - a. Double-click each key.
  - b. Assign the Send press to Linked Object setting to the piloted control list selector.
  - c. Assign the Linked Object setting to the piloted control list selector.





TIP

You can replace the arrows and symbols in the keys with text.

- Double-click each key object to open its properties.
- On the Label tab, type the desired caption.
- Remove the image associated with the key from the Image field.

### Assign Function Keys to a Piloted Control List Selector

The final procedure in configuring a piloted control list selector is to assign F or K key functions to the navigation buttons. This is required only for terminals with a keypad.

Follow these steps to assign F or K terminal function keys to the navigation keys on the display.

- Display Settings... Key Assignments Property Panel Object Explorer Paste Show Grid Snap On Grid Settings... Zoom In Zoom Out Cancel Zoom
- **2.** Select a key object on the left side of the dialog.
- **3.** Select a key assignment to associate with the object.

Use the key assignments from the original cursor list object.

- **4.** Repeat steps 2 and 3 for each key assignment.
- 5. Click OK when done.

Select an object: EndButton1 EnterButton1 HomeButton1 PageDownButton1 PageUpButton1 MoveDownButton1	Select a key assignmer 0 - Unassigned 0 - Unassigned 1 - F1 2 - F2 3 - F3 4 - F4	
MoveUpButton1	<u>5-F5</u>	~

You have successfully created the piloted control list selector to replace the original cursor list object. You now need to create the object lists that will be grouped with the piloted control list selector.

1. Right-click an empty area of the display and select Key Assignments from the shortcut menu.

The Key Assignment Properties dialog opens.

### Replacing the Multistate Indicator Object List

In PanelBuilder 1400e software, the multistate indicator object list consists of up to 24 multistate indicator objects. Because these objects function as a list, they are configured as a group, not individually.

Each multistate indicator in the list allows the operator to view the state of a PLC operation on the screen. Each indicator supports from 2 to 255 states. For each state, you can define unique state values, labels, colors and attributes. The multistate indicators can have two different vertical heights: single or double height.

FactoryTalk View ME software provides the multistate indicator as a replacement for the multistate indicator object list. Because the multistate indicator only allows you to assign a single indicator tag to the object, you will need to create multiple objects and group them together. For example, if the original multistate indicator object list has four visible states, then you will need to create four multistate indicators and group them together to achieve the same look and feel.

### **Create Multistate Indicators**

Follow these steps to create multistate indicators.

- **1.** Open the display with the piloted control list selector.
- 2. Select Objects> Indicator>Multistate and draw the object.

The objects look similar but are different.

- The PanelBuilder 1400e multistate indicator object list let you assign a tag to each state you define.
- The FactoryTalk View ME multistate indicator lets you assign only a single indicator tag to the object.

You will need to create as many multistate indicators as there are visible states in the original multistate indicator list object.





FactoryTalk View ME Multistate Object



PanelBuilder 1400E Multistate Indicator Object List

- **3.** Double-click the multistate object to view its properties.
- **4.** Set the Border style to None.

When you group the multistate indicators they will look as one object with a continuous border.

**5.** Under State settings, select the number of states to match the original multistate indicator object list.

The dialog for the original multistate indicator object list is shown only for clarification.

Multistate Indicator Properties	
General States Common Connections	
Appearance Border style: Border width: Back style: Solid Shape:	
Rectangle Configure Multistate Indicator Object List	×
State settings Number of states:	OK
36 Vumber of States :	Cancel
Number of <u>V</u> isible States : 6	Edit States
C Double Height States	Help
Control Visible State 1 from PLC: *** unassigned ***	
Visible State 2 from PLC: *** unassigned *** Visible State 3 from PLC: *** unassigned *** Visible State 4 from PLC: *** unassigned *** Visible State 5 from PLC: *** unassigned *** Visible State 6 from PLC: *** unassigned ***	
Assign Tag Assign Exprn Unassign	

- 6. Click the States tab.
- 7. For each state, configure these properties to match the original multistate indicator object list.
  - a. Value
  - b. Caption
  - c. Back Color

the new object.

Apply the foreground color of the original multistate indicator object list to the Caption color for each state in the new multistate indicator. Apply the original background color to the Back color of each state in



#### IMPORTANT

Use the same font for each state so that the caption aligns properly with the cursor of the piloted control list selector. Move the cursor up and down the piloted control list selector to verify that the cursor aligns with each multistate indicator. Adjust if necessary. 8. Click the Connections tab.

The PanelBuilder 1400e multistate indicator object list let you configure the number of visible states. For each visible state, you then defined an associated tag connection.

Because FactoryTalk View ME does not support this object, you must assign each of the 'Visible State *x* from PLC' connections to a single multistate indicator. Create as many multistate indicators as there are visible states.

- **9.** Assign the 'Visible State 1 from PLC' associated tag to the Indicator connection.
- **10.** Click OK to accept changes.
- **11.** Select the multistate indicator object and press Ctrl+C to copy the object.
- **12.** Press Ctrl+V to paste the copied object.
- **13.** Repeat steps 11 and 12 until the number of multistate indicators on the display matches the number of visible states.
- **14.** Double-click a copy of the multistate indicator object to open its properties.
- **15.** Click the Connections tab.
- **16.** Assign the 'Visible State 2 from PLC' associated tag to the indicator connection.
- **17.** Repeat steps 14 to 16 until you have assigned the visible state tag to the Indicator connection of each multistate indicator.

FactoryTalk View ME Object

attistate	Indicator P	reperties		U
General   S	tates   Commo	Connections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Indicator	+		***	

Original PanelBuilder 1400e Object

Number of States : Number of Yisible States : Double Height States Control Visible State 1 from PLC: Visible State 3 from PLC: vis	Cancel Edit States. Help
Control Visible State 1 from PLC: **** unassigned *** Visible State 2 from PLC: **** unassigned ***	
Control Yisible State 1 from PLC: *** unassigned *** Visible State 2 from PLC: *** unassigned ***	Help
Visible State 1 from PLC: *** unassigned *** Visible State 2 from PLC: *** unassigned ***	
Visible State 4 from PLC:	

- **1.** Resize one of the multistate indicators so that it aligns with the cursor of the piloted control list selector.
- **2.** Continue to resize and align all multistate indicators so they appear as a list.
- **3.** Verify that cursor aligns with the next multistate indicator when scrolling to the next state in the piloted control list selector.
- **4.** Select all multistate indicators by holding down the Ctrl key and clicking each object.

Do not include the piloted control list selector in the selection.

 Select Arrange>Group to include selected multistate objects in one group.
 When you resize the group,

all individual objects are automatically resized.



**Resize and Align Multistate Indicators** 

The easiest way to resize the multistate indicators is to divide the height of the object by the number of visible states.

👍 RSView Studio - Ma	chine Ed	ition	
File Edit View Objects	Arrange	Animation	Application
	<u>G</u> rou	p	Ctrl+G
. V Ba (2) (	Ungr	oup	Ctrl+U

### Replacing the Local Message Object List

In PanelBuilder 1400e software, the local message object list displays from 2...24 message strings. Because the local message object list function as a list, it is configured as a group, not individually.

FactoryTalk View ME software provides the local message display as a replacement for the local message object list. Because the local message display only allows you to assign a single tag to the object, you will have to create multiple message displays and group them together. For example, if the local message object list has four visible messages, then you will need to create four local message displays and group them together to achieve the same look.

### **Create Local Message Displays**

Follow these steps to create local message displays.



- 2. Select Objects>Advanced> Local Message Display and draw the object.
- The PanelBuilder 1400e local message object list lets you assign a tag to each state (message) you define.
- The FactoryTalk View ME local message display lets you assign only a single indicator tag to the object.

You will need to create as many local message displays as there are visible states (messages) in the original local message object list.



- **3.** Double-click the local message display to open its properties.
- **4.** Set the Border style to None.

When you group the local message displays they will look as one object with a continuous border.

- **5.** Set the Back color to match the background color of the PanelBuilder 1400e local message object list.
- 6. Set the Fore color to match the foreground color of the PanelBuilder 1400e local message object list.
- 7. Set the Font to match the font used in the PanelBuilder 1400e application.

Local Message Dis	play Properti	es		×
General Common	Connections			1
Border style:	Border	width:	Border uses ba	ck color
None		$\langle$	Back color	
Back style:	Pattern	style:	Border color	
Solid	▼ None	•	Pattern color	
		<		
			🗆 Blink	
Text Font:	Size:		Alignment	
PV Tiny	• 12 • I	BIIU	000	
Vord wrap			0.00 0.00	
I* Wold Map				
Message file	$\overline{}$			
	)			
	ОК	Cancel	Apply	Help

IMPORTANT

Use the same font for each local message display so that the captions align properly with the cursor of the piloted control list selector. When all message displays are properly aligned, navigate up and down the piloted control list selector to verify that the cursor aligns with each local message string.

8. Click the ... button under Message File to select the 'LocalMsg' file that was converted from your PanelBuilder 1400e application.

> The local message file contains all of the strings that will display in the local message display as the operator navigates through the piloted control list selector.

#### TIP

FactoryTalk View ME software supports multiple local message files . To improve screen performance you want to create new local message files from the migrated "LocalMsg" file. You can link the new message files to the local message objects instead of having every local message object parse a large file which decreases screen performance. 9. Click the Connections tab.

The PanelBuilder 1400e local message object list lets you configure the number of visible states. For each visible state, you then define an associated tag connection.

Because FactoryTalk View ME does not support a local message object list, you must assign each of the 'Visible State *x* from PLC' connections to a single local message display. Create as many displays as there are visible states (messages).

- **10.** Assign the 'Visible State 1 from PLC' associated tag to the Value connection.
- **11.** Click OK to accept changes.
- **12.** Select the local message display object and press Ctrl+C to copy the object.
- **13.** Press Ctrl+V to paste the copied object.
- **14.** Repeat steps 11 and 12 until the number of pasted local message displays matches the number of visible states (messages).

FactoryTalk View Object

Local Message Display Properties				×
General C	Common Conr	nections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Value	+			

Original PanelBuilder 1400e Object

Name :	OK
Number of Visible States :	Cancel
☐ Highlight Bar	Help
contret	
Tisible State 1 from PLC: **** unassigned *** Tisible State 2 from PLC: **** unassigned ***	
/isible State 3 from PLC: *** unassigned ***	
/isible State 4 from PLC: **** unassigned **** /isible State 5 from PLC: **** unassigned ***	
Isible State 5 from PLC: **** unassigned ***	

- **15.** Double-click a copy of the local message display to open its properties.
- **16.** Click the Connections tab.
- **17.** Assign the 'Visible State 2 from PLC' associated tag to the Value connection.
- **18.** Repeat steps 14 to 16 until you have assigned the visible state tag to the Value connection of each local message display.
- **1.** Resize one of the local message displays so that it aligns with the cursor of the piloted control list selector.
- **2.** Continue to resize and align all local message displays so they appear as a list.
- **3.** Verify that cursor aligns with the next local message display when scrolling to the next state in the piloted control list selector.
- **4.** Select all local message displays by holding down the Ctrl key and clicking each object.

Do not include the piloted control list selector in the selection.

 Select Arrange>Group to include selected message displays in a single group.
 When you resize the group, all individual objects are automatically resized.

### Resize and Align the Local Message Displays

Local Message Display	Local	Message	Displa
	Local	Message	Displa
		Message	
	Local	Message	Displa
		Message	

The easiest way to resize the multistate indicators is to divide the height of the object by the number of visible states.

Local	Message	Display
Local	Message	Display

🕼 RSView Studio - Machine Edition				
File Edit View Objects	Arrange	Animation	Application	
	<u>G</u> rou	P	Ctrl+G	
	Ungr	oup	Ctrl+U	

### Replacing the Numeric Data Display Object List

In PanelBuilder 1400e software, the numeric data display object list displays a list of PLC values. The minimum width of the list depends on the range of values you want to show. This object is retentive because the scrolling list that controls it is retentive.

FactoryTalk View ME software provides the numeric display object as an alternative to the numeric data display object list. Because the numeric display only allows you to assign a single tag to the object, you will have to create multiple displays and group them together. For example, if the numeric data display object list has four visible PLC values, then you will need to create four numeric displays and group them together to achieve the same look.

### **Create Numeric Displays**

Follow these steps to create numeric displays.

- **1.** Open the display with the piloted control list selector.
- **2.** Select Objects>Numeric and String>Numeric Display and draw the object.
- The PanelBuilder 1400e numeric data display object list lets you assign a tag for each PLC value you want to display.
- The FactoryTalk View ME numeric display lets you assign only a single indicator tag to the object.

You will need to create as many numeric displays as there are visible PLC values in the original numeric data display object list.



- **3.** Double-click the numeric display to open its properties.
- **4.** Set the Border style to None.

When you group the numeric displays they will look as one object with a continuous border.

- **5.** Set the Back color to match the background color of the PanelBuilder 1400e numeric data display object List.
- 6. Set the Fore color to match the foreground color of the PanelBuilder 1400e numeric data display object list.
- 7. Set the Font to match the font used in the PanelBuilder 1400e application.
- 8. Set the Number of digits to match the PanelBuilder 1400e numeric data display object list.
- **9.** Set the number of Decimal places to match the Digits after Decimal Point value in the PanelBuilder 1400e numeric data display object list.

umeric Display Properties	
General Common Connections	
Appearance	
Border style: RaisedInset Back style: Solid Border style: Pattern style: Border style: Pattern style: Border style: Pattern style: Border style:	
Text	
Font:     Size:     Alignment       Arial     10     10     10	
Value settings Number of digits 5 None None U U U U U U U	
Configure Numeric Data Display Object List	×
<u>N</u> ame :	OK
Fill Left With : Spaces	Cancel
Number of Digits : 5 - Highlight Bar	
Number of Visible States : 6	<u>H</u> elp
Configure	
Decimal Display :	
C Disabled	
C PLC Controlled	
• Fixed Position Digits after Decimal Point :	
Control Polarity: *** unassigned ***	
Polarity:       *** unassigned ***         Visible State 1 from PLC:       *** unassigned ***         Visible State 2 from PLC:       *** unassigned ***         Visible State 3 from PLC:       *** unassigned ***         Visible State 4 from PLC:       *** unassigned ***         Visible State 5 from PLC:       *** unassigned ***         Visible State 6 from PLC:       *** unassigned ***	
Assign <u>T</u> ag Assign E <u>x</u> prn <u>U</u> nassign	

Original PanelBuilder 1400e Object

#### IMPORTANT

The PLC controlled decimal point option is not supported in the numeric display object. You can use an expression on the object's Connections tab to provide similar functionality. For more information on this workaround, see page 81.

**10.** Click the Connections tab.

The PanelBuilder 1400e numeric data display object list lets you configure the number of visible states. For each visible state, you then define an associated tag connection.

Because FactoryTalk View ME does not support a numeric data display object list, you must assign each of the 'Visible State *x* from PLC' connections to a single numeric display object. Create as many numeric displays as there are visible states.

- **11.** Assign the 'Visible State 1 from PLC' associated tag to the Value connection.
- **12.** Click OK to accept changes.
- **13.** Select the numeric display object and press Ctrl+C to copy the object.
- **14.** Press Ctrl+V to paste the copied object.
- **15.** Repeat steps 11 and 12 until number of pasted numeric displays matches the number of visible states in the original PanelBuilder 1400e object.

FactoryTalk View Object

umeri	ic Displ	lay Properties			X
Genera	al Comr	non Connections	$\triangleright$		
Nan	ne		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Value	+			•••	•••
Polarity	• 4	-		+++	•••
0	Iriginal P	PanelBuilder 1400e	e Object		
C	Configure	e Numeric Data Di	splay Object List		×
	<u>N</u> ame :	:			ОК
	Fill <u>L</u> eft	t With :	Spaces 💌		Cancel
	Number	r of Digits :	5 -		
	Numbe	r of ⊻isible States :	6 Thighlight Bar		<u>H</u> elp
	Configu	Jire			
	Decima	al Display :			
		CREALED			
		C Disabled			
		C PLC Controlled			
		Fixed Position	Digits after Decimal Point : 🚺		1
		• <u>Fixed Position</u>			
	Control				
	Polarit Visible	state 1 from PLC:	*** unassigned *** *** unassigned ***		
	Visible	State 2 from PLC:	*** unassigned ***	$\backslash$	
		State 3 from PLC: State 4 from PLC:	*** unassigned *** *** unassigned ***	)	
		State 5 from PLC:	**** unassigned ****	/	
		State 6 from PLC:	*** unassigned ***		
	1				
		Assign <u>T</u> a	g Assign Exprn U	nassign	

- **16.** Double-click a copy of the numeric display to open its properties.
- **17.** Click the Connections tab.
- **18.** Assign the 'Visible State 2 from PLC' associated tag to the Value connection.
- **19.** Repeat steps 15 to 17 until you have assigned the visible state tag to the Value connection of each numeric display.
- **1.** Resize one of the numeric displays so that it aligns with the arrow of the piloted control list selector.
- **2.** Continue to resize and align all numeric displays so they appear as a list.
- **3.** Verify that the arrow aligns with the next numeric display when scrolling to the next state in the piloted control list selector.
- **4.** Select all numeric displays by holding down the Ctrl key and clicking each object.

Do not include the piloted control list selector in the selection.

 Select Arrange>Group to include selected numeric displays in a single group.
 When you resize the group, all individual objects are automatically resized.



**Resize and Align the Numeric Displays** 

The easiest way to resize the multistate indicators is to divide the height of the object by the number of visible states.

	NNNNN	
	NNMNN	
Ē	NNGNN	
	NNMNN	
	NNMNN	
Ē	NNONN	
	NNMNN	
	NNMNN	
	NNMNN	
	NNNNN	

File Edit View Objects	Arrange Animation	Application
	Group	Ctrl+G
	Ungroup	Ctrl+U

### Replacing the Set Bit Cursor Point Object

In PanelBuilder 1400e software, the set bit cursor point object was available only on keypad terminals. FactoryTalk View ME software provides an ActiveX control as an alternative to the set bit cursor point object. To use this control, you must use a PanelView Plus CE terminal. The ActiveX control must be registered on the terminal. The open Windows CE environment of the PanelView Plus CE terminal allows you to do this.

You must download, register, and configure the ActiveX control in your FactoryTalk View ME application. See page 46 for the location of these files.

### **Register the ActiveX Control on Your Computer**

Follow these steps to register the ActiveX control for the set bit cursor point object on your computer.

**1.** Extract the downloaded files to a location on your hard drive.

Open with	WinZip
Print	
Explore	
Scan for Viru	ses
Extract files.	8
Extract Here	1
Extract to Mi	gration Solutions\
🗐 WinZip	

Mi Soli

The Migration Solutions.apa file contains a set bit cursor point object display which you can test run to review how the object works.

**2.** Open your migrated application in FactoryTalk View ME software.

- **3.** Open a new display.
- C Untitled /SBCP// (Display)
- **4.** With the display selected, select Object>ActiveX Control.

<u>O</u> bjects	Arrange	Animation	Ap			
✓ Select	:t					
R <u>o</u> ta	te					
Draw	ving		•			
Push	Button		•			
Num	eric and St	ring	•			
Displ	ay Na <u>v</u> igat	ion	э			
India	Indicator					
Gaug	Gauge and Graph					
Iren	ding		•			
Recip	RecipePlus					
<u>K</u> ey						
Adva		•				
<u>A</u> ctiv	eX Control					
Impo	rt					

**5.** Draw a box on the display.

You will see ActiveX under the mouse pointer to indicate that you are drawing an ActiveX object.

**6.** Click the Register button.



- 7. In the Open dialog:
  - a. Select the SBCP ActiveX file (\*.ocx) in the Win32 folder where you extracted files.
  - b. Click Open to register the control.

pen					?(
Look in:	Win32		•	+ E 💣 🔳	<b> </b> +
My Recent Documents Desktop	SBCP.ocx				
My Documents					
My Computer	File name:			•	Open
My Network Places	Files of type:	Controls (*.ocx)	,	<u> </u>	Cancel

**8.** Scroll down to the ME SBCP Control and click OK.

Insert an ActiveX Control	×
Macromedia Flash Factory Object	OK
Microsoft ADO Data Control 6.0 (SP4)	Cancel
Microsoft Agent Control 2.0 Microsoft Animation Control 6.0 (SP4) Microsoft Common Dialog Control, vers Microsoft Coolbar Control, version 6.0	Help
Microsoft Date and Time Picker Contro Microsoft DirectAnimation Control	Register
Microsoft DirectAnimation Path Microsoft DirectAnimation Sequencer Microsoft DirectAnimation Sprite	Unregister
Microsoft DirectAnimation Structured E	

**9.** Click OK when the warning appears.

The warning indicates that you need to load the same ActiveX control on the PanelView Plus CE terminal for runtime operation. You will do this later.

Warning	×
Make sure the selected ActiveX control i system and the platform on which y	ou are deploying the project.
OK	

#### **Configure the Set Bit Cursor Point ActiveX Control**

Follow these steps to configure the set bit cursor ActiveX control.

**1.** Double-click the ActiveX control.

.

.

- **2.** Click the Connections tab.
- **3.** Assign a tag or expression to the Select, Index, and SBCP connections.

The table defines each connection.

**4.** Click OK when done.

AE SBCP C	ontrol Prop	erties			_	
General (	Common Con	nections				
Name		Tag	/ Expression	Tag	Exprn	Γ
Select	+	2	10.	•••	+++	Γ
Index	+				***	ľ
SBCP1	↔					]
SBCP2	↔					
SBCP3	↔					]
SBCP4	↔					]
SBCP5	<b>↔</b>					]
SBCP6	↔					]
SBCP7	↔			•••		1
SBCP8	↔					1
SBCP9	↔			•••		1
SBCP10	↔					1
SBCP11	↔					]
SBCP12	↔			***		1
SBCP13	↔					1
SBCP14	↔			***		]
SBCP15	<b>↔</b>					]
SBCP16	↔					]
SBCP17	↔					]
SBCP18	↔					]
SBCP19	↔			•••		]
SBCP20	↔			•••		1
SBCP21	↔					1

Connection	Connection type	Description
Select	Read	A zero to non-zero transition activates the control.
		• If the value of the Index connection matches an assigned SBCP connection, the Select connection is set to 1.
		• The control becomes inactive if the value of the connection is zero.
		This is a required connection.
Index	Read	The tag assigned to this connection is typically an integer. Set the initial value to 1. The ActiveX control will mimic behavior similar to the PanelView 'e' terminal, which is to select the first item when the control is used the first time.
		A Ramp button pair is typically assigned to the Index connection with the limits based on the number of cursor points on the display.
		This is a required connection.
SBCP	Read/Write	The SBCP connections are named SBCP1 through SBCP100. Each represents a value control of the set bit cursor point object in the PanelView 'e' terminal. The SBCP ActiveX control writes either a 0 or 1 to the SBCP connections. Only
		one SBCP connection can be set to 1 at a time.
		The value of the Index property determines which SBCP connection to set to 1. If the Index connection is set to 1, then SBCP1 is set to 1 and all others are set to 0.

#### **Migrate the Set Bit Cursor Point Object**

Follow these steps to migrate the existing set bit cursor point from each PanelBuilder 1400e display manually.

**IMPORTANT** This procedure requires that you open your original PanelBuilder 1400e application.

- **1.** In the PanelBuilder 1400e application, open the first display that uses a set bit cursor point.
- **2.** In the FactoryTalk View ME migrated application, open the same display.
- **3.** In the PanelBuilder 1400e display, select the first set bit cursor point the operator would activate.
- **4.** Double-click the object it to open its properties.
- **5.** In the FactoryTalk View ME display, assign the same tag from the PanelBuilder 1400e display (step 3) to the activeX SBCP connection.
- **6.** Repeat steps 3 and 5 for each set bit cursor point object on the display.
- **7.** In FactoryTalk View ME, assign a digital memory tag to the Select connection.
- **8.** Assign an integer memory tag to the Index connection.

		ОК
lame : Cycle	itart	Cancel
		Help
Control		
Set Bit Control:	Tag_DI10_0_4_Dig	

TIP

If you require the set bit cursor point to be active when the operator enters a display, set the initial value of the tag assigned to the Select connection to 1.
**9.** Draw four ramp buttons on the display so the operator can navigate through each set bit cursor point object.

Use a left, right, up and down ramp button.

- **10.** Double-click one of the ramp buttons and select properties for a left ramp button.
  - a. Set the Ramp down Lower limit to 1.
  - b. Set the Ramp value to 1.
  - c. On the Label tab, set the Image to Arrow Left.
  - d. On the Connection tab, set the Value connection to the same tag in step 8.

eral Label Timing	Common Connecti	ons
Appearance		
Border style:	Border width:	🔽 Border uses back color
Raised 💌	4	Back color
Back style:	Pattern style:	Border color
Solid	None	Pattern color
Shape:		Highlight color
Rectangle 👻	1	🗖 Blink
Fouch margins Horizontal margin: 0	Vertical margin:	
Other V Audio		

#### Label Tab

Image settings	
Image:	
Arrow Left	

#### **Connections Tab**

lamp Butt	on Pr	operties		
General L	abel	Timing Common Connections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Value	+	Index	***	

- **11.** Double-click another ramp button and select properties for a right ramp button.
  - a. Set the Ramp down Upper limit to 100.Set the upper limit to the number of set bit cursor point objects on the display.
  - b. Set the Ramp value to 1.
  - c. On the Label tab, set the Image to Arrow Right
  - d. On the Connection tab, set the Value connection to the same tag in step 8.
- **12.** Double-click another ramp button and select properties for an up ramp button.
  - a. Set the Ramp down Lower limit to 1.
  - b. Set the Ramp value to the last set bit cursor point value on the row.

For example, if you have four set bit cursor points per row and five rows, then the ramp value is 4.

In this example, if you click the Up Ramp button on the second row at position 5, you would expect it to ramp down by 4, so the set bit cursor point starts at the first set bit cursor point on the first row.

- c. On the Label tab, set the Image to Arrow Up.
- d. On the Connection tab, set the Value connection to the same tag in step 8.

 Button settings

 Image: State Stat

`Ramp up	Lower limit:	Ramp value	B:
Ramp down	1	4	
:P - /SBCP// (Display) Set B	iit Cursor Point Sam		
Set		RS\	/iewME SBCP
SBCP1	SBCP2 SBCP3 SBC	.P4	Select
			Select Cancel
SBCP1			

- **13.** Double-click another ramp buttons and select properties for a down ramp button.
  - a. Set the Upper limit to the first set bit cursor point on the last row.
  - b. Set the Ramp value to the last set bit cursor point value on the row.

For example, if you have four set bit cursor points and three rows, then set the Ramp value to 4 and the Upper limit to 9.

In this example, if you clicked the down ramp button on the second row at postion 5, it would ramp up by 4. The set bit cursor point starts at the first set bit cursor point on the next row, 9.

- c. On the Label tab, set the Image to Arrow Down.
- d. On the Connection tab, set the Value connection to the same tag in step 8.

'Rampup	Upper limit:	Ramp value:
C Ramp down	8	4



TIP

For keypad only terminals, you need to assign function keys to each of the ramp arrow buttons so the operator can interact with the display. Right click an empty area of the display and select Key Assignments to assign function keys. **14.** Add a numeric display to the display and set the Value connection to the same tag in step 8.

The numeric display helps the operator to identify the set bit cursor points.

**15.** Add an interlock push button to the display, assign the tag in step 7 to the Value connection, and set the button value to 1.

The operator can enable the ActiveX control by clicking the interlock push button, setting the Select connection value to 1.

**16.** Add another interlock push button to the display, assign the tag in step 7 to the Value connection, and set the button value to 0.

The operator can disable the ActiveX control by clicking the interlock push button, setting the Select connection value to 0.

### **Provide Visual Feedback**

- 1. Select Objects>Indicators>Symbol.
- **2.** Draw a box on the display.

Objects	Arrange Animatic	n Applicat	ion Tool	s Win
✓ Sel Rot	ect :ate	17-7-9	86	•
D <u>r</u> a	wing	•	-	N. 2000
<u>P</u> us	h Button	• 🗆 (	009	
Nur	meric and String	- • • •	• • 3	F ±
Dis	play Na <u>v</u> igation			
Ind	licator	▶ ⊵	lultistate	
Gay	uge and Graph	▶ <u>5</u>	ymbol	
Ire	nding	• 1	ist	

X

Add...

Help

 Image Browser

 I click OK.

 Select image:

 Arrow Down

 Arrow Right

 Arrow Hight

 Arrow Up

 Backspace

 End

 Enter

 Home

 Page Down

 Page Up

Monochrome

Bitmap

Image attributes Type:

Format:

Width x Height: 22 x 22

**3.** In the Image Browser, select Arrow Right and click OK.

- **4.** Double-click the symbol object to open its properties.
  - a. Set the Number of States to 2.
  - b. On the States tab, configure state 0 to have the same image color and image back color as the display.
  - c. On the Connections tab, assign the tag assigned to the Set Bit Cursor Point SBCP1 connection.
  - d. Click OK.

	General States Commo	on   Connections   Border width:	
	Shape:	_	
	Rectangle	•	
	- Symbol settings		
	Number of states:	Trigger type: Value	
	Image:		
	Arrow Right		
tate Tab			
Image set	tings ———		
2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C 2 C C C C	e color		
🗌 Imag			

ΟK

Cancel

**5.** Copy and paste the symbol object for each set bit cursor point you want on the display.

6. Repeat step 6 for each symbol copied in step 8 and assign the SBCP*x* connection tags.

In the example, the Select button enables the set bit cursor point and the Cancel button disables it. The arrows let the operator navigate through each of the SBCP tags assigned. In this example, a symbol object provides visual feedback for the object or tag being referenced.

In Run mode, only one symbol object is active at a time, providing visual feedback to the operator.

7. Repeat all steps starting with the procedure on page 72 for each display that uses a set bit cursor point object.





### **Register the ActiveX Control on a PanelView CE Terminal**

Follow these steps to install and register the SBCP ActiveX control on the PanelView Plus CE terminal.

- 1. Copy the contents of the VVCE41 folder, in the extracted ME SBCP ActiveX Control folder, to the root of an empty CompactFlash card.
- 2. Rename the Install.bat file to Batch.bat.
- **3.** Turn on the PanelView Plus CE terminal without an application running and
- **4.** Insert a CompactFlash card into the card slot.

The autorun.exe will call the install batch file to install the necessary files, and register the ActiveX control.

**5.** Restart the terminal and remove the CompactFlash card after a display indicates that all the files were copied and registered.

The PanelView Plus CE terminal can now run your application that requires the set bit cursor point ActiveX control.

# Bit Position Data Type Workaround

If a bit position data type does not reference a single bit, it is converted to an HMI memory tag. An error is recorded in the conversion log.

- If the object using this data type is an indicator (read operation), there is a workaround.
- If the object using this data type is a button (write operation), the feature is unsupported.

The workaround for the bit position data type in an indicator object (read operation) is to use this expression in the object.

If ((YourTagHere) & 1) ==1 Then 1 Else If ((YourTagHere >> 1) & 1) ==1 Then 2 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 2) & 1) ==1 Then 3 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 3) & 1) == 1 Then 4 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 4) & 1) == 1 Then 5 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 5) & 1)==1 Then 6 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 6) & 1) == 1 Then 7 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 7) & 1) == 1 Then 8 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 8) & 1) == 1 Then 9 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 9) & 1) == 1 Then 10 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 10) & 1) ==1 Then 11 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 11) & 1) ==1 Then 12 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 12) & 1) ==1 Then 13 Else if ((*YourTagHere* >> 13) & 1) ==1 Then 14 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 14) & 1) ==1 Then 15 Else if ((YourTagHere >> 15) & 1) == 1 Then 16 Else 0

Simply, replace *YourTagHere* with your bit position tag and the expression will determine what LSB is high and return its value to the indicator object.

The expression uses a series of Bit Shift and AND commands to determine if the LSB is high. If the LSB is high, then depending on the number of the bit shifts completed, the expression will return a value associated with the bit location.

For example, if the value of your tag is 500 (111110100 in binary), the expression will return the value 3 because it is the high LSB.

# PLC Controlled Decimal Point Workaround

If a numeric object in your PanelBuilder 1400e application was imported into FactoryTalk View ME software with a PLC controlled decimal point, an error is recorded in the conversion log.

PLC Controlled Decimal Point input option not supported

As a workaround, use this expression for the Value connection in your numeric object.

(YourTagHere)/(10 \*\* (PVe Decimal Point Position Tag))

This expression will let you input a decimal point in a numeric value.

Numeric D	ispla	y Properties	_	×
General 0	Commo	n Connections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Value	+	(YourTagHere)/(10 ** (PVe Decimal Point Position 1		+++
Polarity	+			+++

Replace these items in the expression.

- Replace *YourTagHere* with a tag having a value you want to display.
- Replace *PVe Decimal Point Position Tag* with the tag assigned to the Decimal Point Position connection in the original PanelBuilder 1400e graphic object.

Name:		OK
ill <u>L</u> eft With : S	paces 💌	Cancel
lumber of Digits : 5		-
lumber of <u>V</u> isible States : 6	☐ Highlight Bar	Help
Configure		
ecimal Display :		
C Disabled		
C Implicit		
PLC Controlled		
C Fixed Position		
Control Decimal Point Position:	*** unassigned ***	
	whassigned ***	
	*** unassigned ***	
Visible State 1 from PLC:	*** unassigned ***	
Visible State 1 from PLC: Visible State 2 from PLC: Visible State 3 from PLC:	*** unassigned *** *** unassigned ***	
Visible State 1 from PLC: Visible State 2 from PLC: Visible State 3 from PLC: Visible State 4 from PLC:	*** unassigned *** *** unassigned *** *** unassigned ***	
Visible State 1 from PLC: Visible State 2 from PLC: Visible State 3 from PLC: Visible State 4 from PLC: Visible State 5 from PLC:	*** unassigned *** *** unassigned *** *** unassigned *** *** unassigned ***	
Polarty: Visible State 1 from PLC: Visible State 2 from PLC: Visible State 3 from PLC: Visible State 4 from PLC: Visible State 5 from PLC: Visible State 6 from PLC:	*** unassigned *** *** unassigned *** *** unassigned ***	

TIP

You may need to configure the number of digits the object displays and the number of decimal places to show depending on the FactoryTalk View ME object. These fields are typically on the General tab of the object's Properties dialog.

# Fixed Position Decimal Point Workaround

If a numeric object in the PanelBuilder 1400e application was imported into FactoryTalk View software with a fixed position decimal point, an error is recorded in the conversion log.

Fixed Position Decimal Point input option not supported

As a workaround, use this expression for the Value connection in your numeric object.

(YourTagHere)/(10 \*\* (Fixed Position Value))

This expression will let you input a decimal point in a numeric value.

lumeric D	isplay	Properties	_	
General C	Commor	Connections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprn
Value	+	(YourTagHere)/(10**(Fixed Position Value)		
Polarity	+			

Replace these items in the expression.

- Replace *YourTagHere* with a tag having a value you want to display.
- Replace *Fixed Position Value* with the value defined in the Digits after Decimal Point field of the original PanelBuilder 1400e graphic object.

# Retain Last State Workaround

PanelBuilder 1400e software has a Retain the Last State feature for the cursor list object. If this feature is enabled, when the operator returns to a display with the cursor list, the last selected state is retained and reselected. To achieve the same functionality in your FactoryTalk View ME application, you need to implement this workaround.

- Set up a Display Shutdown macro to write the currently selected value to a memory tag.
- Set up a Display Startup macro to read the value of the memory tag and write the value to the Value connection of the piloted control list selector.

Follows these steps to implement the workaround.

🛾 HMI Tags

💣 Tags

- 1. Open your new application migrated into FactoryTalk View ME software.
- 2. In the Explorer window, expand HMI Tags and double-click Tags to open the tag database.
- 3. Create a new tag.
  - a. Name the tag RetainLastState.
  - b. Set the Tag Type to Analog.
  - d. Set the Minimum and Maximum values to the number of items the piloted control list selector will scroll through.
  - e. Select Memory as the Data Source Type.
  - f. Set the Initial Value to 0.
  - g. Verify the Retentive check box is checked.
- **4.** Click Accept to save the changes.

Create a similar tag for each piloted control list selector that requires the Retain the Last State feature.

Name:	RetainLastSta	te		Close
Туре:	Analog 💌	(		Accept
Description:				Discard
Minimum:	0	Scale: 1		
Maximum:	100	Offset: 0	Data Type: (Default)	▼ New
Data Sourc	8			Help
Туре:	C Device	Memory		
Initial Value:	0			_
	Retentive			

TIP

The retentive feature retains the last value written to the tag. If you cycle power to the terminal, the last known value written to the tag is loaded instead of the Initial value.

- **5.** In the Explorer window, expand Logic and Control and double-click Macros.
- **6.** Follow these steps in the Macro Editor.
  - a. Under the Tag column, browse for and select the RetainLastTag tag.
  - b. Under Expression, browse for and select the tag you assigned to the Value connection in the piloted control list selector.
  - c. Click Close and then Save to save your changes.
  - d. Name the file Retain Last State.
- 7. Right-click Macro and select New.
- **8.** Follow these steps in the Macro Editor.
  - a. Under the Tag column, browse for and select the tag you assigned to the Value connection in the Piloted control list.
  - b. Under Expression, browse for and select the RetainLastTag tag.
  - c. Click Close and then Yes to save your changes.
  - d. Name the file Restore Last State.

🖻 🔄 Logic and Control

Form: <Tag> = <Expression>

	Tag	Tag	Expression	Exprn
1	RetainLastState	•••	YourPilotedControlListValueTag	•••
2		•••		•••

🖹 🔄 Logic and	Control
	New
🕀 🛄 Data Lo	Add Component Into Application
🗄 🦳 BacinaPli	°

- **9.** Double-click the display with the piloted control list selector that requires the Retain the Last State feature.
- **10.** Right-click an empty area of the screen and select Display Settings.



- **11.** Click the Behavior tab.
- **12.** Click the ... button under Macros startup to browse for and select the Restore Last State macro file.
- **13.** Click the ... button under Macros shutdown to browse for and select the Restore Last State macro file.
- **14.** Click OK to accept the changes.
- **15.** Click X on the display and save all changes.



TIP

You will need to repeat this procedure for each piloted control list selector that requires the Retain the Last State feature. This includes the creation of new tags and new macro files.

You have completed the workaround for the Retain the Last State feature. When you open a display with a piloted control list selector, the startup display macro restores the state value from the RetainLastState tag to the Value connection of the piloted control list selector. When you navigate to a different display, the shutdown macro copies the last state value of the piloted control list selector to the RetainLastState tag. RSLogix 5 Pro - RIO

OFFLINE

No Edits Driver: (unknown) 🔍 RIO

> Project 🕂 🧰 Help 🛨 🧰 Controller

File Edit View Search Comms Tools 

SYS0-

🅼 LAD 2 - M

Forces Disabled

New.

+

# Ladder Logic Updates to **Support Visible States**

**1.** Create a new data file.

Because the piloted control list selector uses an array tag, not individual tags, to implement visible states, you need to make changes to your ladder logic.

Follow these steps to update your ladder logic using RSLogix 5 software. The same steps would apply if using RSLogix 500 software.



- a. Accept the File value.
- b. Set the Type to Integer.
- c. Enter a meaningful Name for the file.
- d. For Elements, enter the number of visible states in the original PanelBuilder 1400e cursor list object.
- e. Click OK to save your settings.

Create Data Fi	le		×
	eger /DATATYPE		
	eleting Unused Mem	Contr	olNet
Scope Global CLocal Privileges	o File: 2 - MAIN		<u>×</u>
Class 1	Class 2 I R I W	Class 3 I R V Cancel	Class 4 I R I W Help

3. Right-click on Program Files and select New to add a new program file to the PLC program.



- **4.** Configure these parameters for the program file.
  - a. Accept the Number value.
  - b. Set the File Type to Ladder File.
  - c. Enter a meaningful Name for the program file.
  - d. Click OK to save your settings.
- Program File 0K 4 Enter file number(s) or range(s) Number: Cancel separated by commas For example: 5,6,8-12 File Type: Ladder File • Name: Description: Help Attributes C Debug Privileges Class 1 Class 2 Class 3 Class 4 R R W R R W R R W R R W
- **5.** Double-click the program file you just created.
- 6. On the tabbed instruction bar, select the Move/Logic tab and click MOV.
- **7.** Configure the MOV instruction.
  - a. For Source, enter the first word location in the new data file you just created.
  - b. For Destination, enter the tag address for the original Visible State 1 to PLC connection.
- **8.** Click the next empty rung.
- **9.** Repeat steps 6 to 8 until the number of MOV instructions matches the number of visible states in the original control list object.

As you repeat each step, enter the next word in the data file for the Source and the next visible state as the Destination.



Create Program File



- **10.** Click the next empty rung.
- **11.** On the tabbed instruction bar, select the Program Control tab and click RET.

The RET command exits the subroutine and returns you to the MAIN program.

- **12.** Click X an save your changes.
- **13.** Double-click your main program file.

0000 e	MOV	
e	Source N9:0	
e	Dest N7:0 ?	
e		
e 0001 e	Return	
e B		

- **14.** Click the last rung.
- **15.** On the tabbed instruction bar, select the Program Control tab and click JSR.
- **16.** The JSR instruction jumps to the subroutine that handles all the visible state MOV instructions just created.
- **17.** In the JSR subroutine, set the Prog File Number to the number specified in the Program File that handles all the MOV instructions.
- **18.** Click X to save all changes.



		1.0
0000 e e e	Jump To Subroutine Prog File Number	
e 10001	(END )	

**19.** On the Connections tab of your piloted control list selector, assign the appropriate tag to the Visible States connection.

General States	Timing Co	mmon Connections		
Name		Tag / Expression	Tag	Exprr
Value	→		•••	
Indicator	+		•••	***
Remote Access	+		•••	•••
Top Position	+		•••	
Visible States	+>		•••	
Enter	+		•••	
Enter Handshake	+		••••	

This is the address syntax for the Visible States tag.

{[PLC5]N7:0,L5}

Replace	With
N7:0	The first element in the data file you created.
5 in L5	The number of elements you entered in the new data file or the number of visible states in the original cursor list object.
PLC5	Shortcut name you defined in Communication Setup of RSLinx Enterprise software.

The visible state ladder logic changes are now complete.

- When the Main Routine runs, the JSR instruction jumps to the new program file you created.
- In the new program file, the FactoryTalk View ME piloted control list selector writes the visible states into the elements of the new data file you created.
- The ladder logic in the program file moves the contents of the elements into the original Visible State x to PLC tags that were defined in the cursor list object, and then returns to the Main Routine.

# **Qualify the Runtime Application**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will qualify the integrity of your converted application before downloading and running it in your production environment. Because you are using different software with new features and functionality, it is important to validate the application for proper operation.
Before You Begin	<ul> <li>Review migration considerations (Chapter 1).</li> <li>Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Optionally install the PanelView Plus terminal in the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Import your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application into FactoryTalk View ME software (Chapter 3).</li> <li>Review the conversion log for your migrated application (Chapter 4).</li> <li>Review object and expression mapping (Chapter 5).</li> <li>Review unsupported features and common migration issues (Chapter 6).</li> </ul>
What You Need	Converted FactoryTalk ME application with unsupported features and workarounds for migration issues.

### **Follow These Steps**

Follow these steps to configure diagnostics, validate, test run, configure global memory connections, download, and run your converted application on a PanelView Plus terminal.



### **Reviewing Diagnostic Lists**

On your development computer, FactoryTalk View ME software features a diagnostic list at the bottom of the application window. You can configure FactoryTalk diagnostics to display information, warnings, and errors during application development and runtime operation.

When you test run your application, the diagnostic list displays messages and errors logged by the application. Use this list to identify the graphic objects or features that generated the messages or errors. Correct these errors during the validation process.

The diagnostic lists lets you Clear one or all messages in the list.

- Click the Clear button to delete the message that is displayed. If you resize the list to display more than one message, select a message and then click Clear.
- Click the Clear All button to delete all messages in the list.

×	The Displays [DIAGNOSTICS] was added. Q Changes to the Displays [DIAGNOSTICS] have been saved.	^	Clear	Clear All
11	Changes to the Displays "[DIAGNOSTICS]" have been saved.			
	3 The Images 'arrow up' was added.			
	The Images 'arrow down' was added.			
	3 RSLinx Enterprise: loading Factory Talk data server '\$Local:Objects 5 Screen Demo:RSLinx Enterprise' from configuration file C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Application Data\Rockwell\RNAClient\Local\RnaStore\Objects 5 Scre			
	In service. The server RNA://\$Local/Objects 5 Screen Demo:RSLinx Enterprise on computer NVCARBCNSSCPR9 is now active.	~		
Ш		1000		

To view this diagnostic information during runtime, use either the

- default [DIAGNOSTICS] graphic display
- or diagnostic list object in a customized graphic display.
- TIP

The [DIAGNOSTICS] display is in the Libraries editor of the application Explorer window if not already included in your application displays. Import the [DIAGNOSTIC] display if you are going to use it.

# Configure the Runtime Diagnostic Display

**1.** Launch FactoryTalk View ME if not open.

- **2.** Open your converted application.
- **3.** Expand the System folder in your application Explorer window.
- **4.** Double-click Diagnostic List Setup.
- **5.** Under Runtime display, verify that [DIAGNOSITICS] is the Display name.

This is the default diagnostic display that pops up during runtime when configured events occur.

6. Check the boxes next to the the messages that you want to appear in the display when events occur during runtime.

Always log errors and warnings during runtime.

For information on how each dialog option is designed to function during runtime, click Help.

7. Click OK.

Follows these steps to configure the default [DIAGNOSTICS] display to log errors or warnings generated during runtime operation.



Diagnostics List Setup - /Objects	5 Screen Dem	•/ _ 🗆 🗙
- Log messages to printer when		
Error occurs		
T Warning occurs		
Information occurs		
Audit occurs		
Open display automatically when:		
Maximum number of messages: 200		

# **Reviewing Error States for Graphic Objects**

In FactoryTalk View ME software, error conditions for visible objects may be different than those in PanelBuilder 1400e software. The Object Error Mode table clarifies what happens when errors occur for objects when tags are unavailable or communication is lost.

For additional information on objects, refer to the online help.

#### **Object Error Mode**

Graphic Object	Visible Error Mode
<ul> <li>Momentary Push Button</li> <li>Maintained Push Button</li> <li>Latched Push Button</li> </ul>	The caption displays 'default error message' for the error state.
<ul> <li>Multistate Push Button</li> </ul>	
<ul><li>Interlock Push Button</li><li>Ramp Push Button</li></ul>	No visible error message or error condition is displayed. When you click on these objects, an error
	message is generated and logged to the diagnostic list object.
<ul><li>Numeric Display</li><li>Numeric Input Cursor</li></ul>	These objects display asterisks, ******.
<ul><li>Numeric Input Enable</li><li>String Input Enable</li></ul>	No visible error message or error condition is displayed.
<ul> <li>String Display</li> </ul>	When you click on these objects, an error message is generated and logged to the diagnostic list object.
<ul><li>Goto Display Button</li><li>Return To Display Button</li></ul>	No visible error message or error condition is displayed.
<ul><li>Display List Selector</li><li>Close Display Button</li></ul>	If communication to the PLC controller is lost, these buttons still let you navigate through your application.
Multistate Indicator	The caption displays Error for the error state.
Symbol Properties	The object shows the image color defined in the error state.
List Indicator	No visible error message or error condition is displayed.
Bar Graph Gauge	This object shows a transparent wireframe box.
Scale	No visible error message or error condition is displayed.
Local Message Display	This object displays question marks, ???????, in the error state.

#### **Object Error Mode**

Graphic Object	Visible Error Mode
Backspace	No visible error message or error condition
• End	is displayed.
• Enter	
• Home	
Move Left	
Move Right	
Move Down	
• Page Up	
<ul> <li>Page Down</li> </ul>	
Sort Alarm	No visible error message or error condition
Reset Alarm	is displayed.
Alarm Banner	
Alarm Status List	
Display Print	No visible error message or error condition is displayed.
Trend	This object appears not to have any pens and does not perform real-time trending.
Time and Date	No visible error message or error condition is displayed.

### **Test Run Graphic Displays**

FactoryTalk View ME software provides a Test Display mode to test the animation and assigned tags connected to objects in a graphic display. Any information, warning, or errors are logged to the diagnostic list for your review.

Test Display mode tests all objects in a display:

- Button objects
- Numeric and string object to verify that correct values are displayed
- Objects that require user input
- Objects that use animation

For each object tested, review and correct any errors and warnings logged to the diagnostic list. Retest the display object before proceeding to the next object.

IMPORTANT	In Test Display mode, objects in the display are activated and connected to assigned tags. Only tags connected to objects in
	the display will work. Links to other displays or alarms,
	including data logging, macros, global connections, and
	information messages will not work. Configure communication
	to the PLC controller before test running the display or all
	objects will show their error states.

Follow these steps to activate Test Display mode for a display and then return to Edit mode. Running Test Display mode and correcting logged errors in Edit mode is an iterative process.

- **1.** Open the display you want to test.
- **2.** Access Test Display mode in one of two ways.
- Choose Test Display from the View menu

- or click the Test Display button on the toolbar.
- **3.** Return to Edit mode in one of two ways.
- Choose Edit Display from the View menu

• or click the Edit Display button on the toolbar.





# **Test Run the Application**

After testing and verifying that each graphic display is error free, you are ready to test run the entire application. Application Test mode lets you navigate through the entire application to validate functions not tested in Display Test mode. Some of these features include alarming, data logging, information messages, global connections, and macros.

As you navigate through displays in Application Test mode, the Diagnostic List logs warnings and errors as they occur. Correct all logged errors and then retest the application to validate error correction.

Follow these steps to test run an application.

- **1.** Open your converted application in FactoryTalk View ME software.
- **2.** Test the application in one of two ways.
- Choose Test Application from the Application menu
- or click the Test Application icon on the toolbar.

The emulator opens on your computer and runs the application. There is a two hour limit for using the runtime emulator.

**3.** Press x on your keyboard to exit the emulator.



TIP

Local messages and graphic objects configured for multiple languages will display in the application's current language while in Test Application mode.

TIP

The emulator window requires focus when pressing the x key to exit the emulator.

## Configuring Global Memory Connections

FactoryTalk View ME software provides global connections to monitor the memory usage of an application during runtime.

- MERuntime Memory Usage This is a new option.
- Available RAM
- Total RAM Usage

#### IMPORTANT

When developing and testing a FactoryTalk View ME application on the PanelView Plus terminal, monitor the values of these connections to verify that the application does not exceed the available RAM installed in the terminal.

### **Hardware Limitations**

PanelView Plus terminals have a 32 MB process limit. The application cannot consume more than 32 MB of memory at runtime. Run the application on the PanelView Plus terminal with the MERuntime RAM Usage connection enabled to determine if the application is approaching this limit. Navigate to all screens and exercise all functions of the application to monitor memory usage.

IMPORTANT	When running an application on a PanelView Plus terminal, FactoryTalk View ME Station has a tag connection cache
	threshold of 26 MB. If the MERuntime RAM Usage exceeds 26 MB, screen change performance decreases significantly as the system adds and removes tag connections from the cache.

If the MERuntime RAM Usage exceeds 26 MB for the application and performance is slow, you can do one of two things:

- Modify the application to reduce memory usage.
- Move the application to a PC-based industrial computer.

### **Configure Global Connections**

Explorer - Objects 5 Screen Demo

🖃 🎻 Local (NVCARBCNSSCPR9)

😑 🙀 Objects 5 Screen Demo 😑 🥵 Objects 5 Screen Demo

🖻 🔄 System

Project Settings
Runtime Security

Diagnostics List Setup

Follow these steps to set up global memory connections in your converted application.

- **1.** Open your converted application in FactoryTalk View ME software.
- **2.** In the Explorer window, double-click the Global Connections icon.

The Global Connections editor opens.

**3.** Click the Memory tab.

,	s 5 Screen Demo/	l	- )[[]
e and time output interval (seconds):	Maximum update rate: 1		] secon
s and time output interval (seconds).		-	Secon
ate and Time Display Macro Ba			
=		272	2
Connection	Tag or expression	Tag	Exprn
Year:		•••	
Day of Week:		•••	
Month:		•••	
Day of Month:		***	
Hour:		***	
Minute:		***	
Second:			
Remote Date and Time:		•••	•••
Remote Year:		•••	••••
Remote Month:		•••	•••
Remote Day of Month:			••••
Remote Hour:			
Remote Minute:		+++	
Remote Second:		***	
		100	1

**4.** Configure the global memory connections to monitor the amount RAM used by the runtime application.

Refer to the table for a description of each connection.

	<u>M</u> aximum update rate	: 1	secor
ate and Time Display Macro B	acklight Memory		
		1 -	1
Connection	Tag or expression	Tag	Exprr
MERuntime RAM Usage:			1
Total RAM Usage: Available RAM:		•••	10
Remote RAM Usage:		***	

TIP

Assign these tags to a display or trend object in your application so that you can monitor memory usage at runtime.

#### **Global Memory Connections**

For this global connection		Assign this tag type	Connection Type	
MERuntime RAM Usage	When this connection is assigned, and the Remote RAM Usage connection is set to a nonzero value the application writes the KB of RAM used by the runtime application to this connection, once every 10 seconds.	Analog Tag	Read-write	
Total RAM Usage	When this connection is assigned and the Remote RAM Usage connection is set to a nonzero value, the application writes the total KB of RAM used by all processes running on the terminal to this connection, once every 10 seconds.	Analog tag	Read-write	
Available RAM	When this connection is assigned and the Remote RAM Usage connection is set to a nonzero value, the application writes the the amount of unused KB of RAM on the runtime terminal to the Available RAM connection, once every 10 seconds.	Analog tag	Read-write	
Remote RAM Usage	When this connection is set to a nonzero value, the MERuntime RAM Usage, Total RAM Usage and Available RAM Usage connections are active.	Assign a tag or an expression	Read-write	

#### 5. Click OK.

### **Configuring Communication**

You are now ready to configure communication for your imported application. Because this is a new application, a communication configuration does not exist. The configuration will vary depending on the communication protocol you use.

### **Remote I/O Communication**

Follow these steps to configure a new Remote I/O configuration for your application.



**2.** Select Create a New Configuration and click Finish.

RSLinx Enterprise Configuration Wizard	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file:	
Create a new configuration.	
C Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project.	
C Copy the configuration that is currently running on this workstation.	
< <u>B</u> ack <b>Finish</b>	Cancel

1. In the Explorer window, expand RSLinx Enterprise and double-click Communication Setup.

- 🗆 ×

- **3.** In the Communication Setup A Communication Setup - RNA://\$Local/IMME\_PYP700\_1000\_v002a/RSLinx Ent dialog, select the local tab. Add a device shortcut that specifies two communication paths. Click Local to specify one path on this computer for application development and testing. Click Target to specify a second path for use by the target device. Device Shortcuts 4. Right-click RSLinx Enterprise Local Target 🖃 🖳 RSLinx Enterprise, STATION13 and select Add Driver. 🗄 🖅 1789-A17, Backplane 🗄 - 윪 EtherNet, Ethernet 92.168.1.1, , 9300-8EDM ENET Diagnostic Module 4 192.168.1.101, 1794-AENT, 1734-AENT Ethernet/IP Adapter 🗈 🔲 192.168.1.105, PanelView Plus 1000, PanelView-Plus 5. Select the Remote I/O Add Driver Selection × (1784-PKTX, 2711P-RN6) driver and click OK. Available Drivers Ethernet Serial DF1 The 2711P-RN6 driver is DH+ (1784-PKTX, 2711P-RN6, 2711P-RN8) DH485 (1784-PKTX, 2711P-RN6) Serial DH485 (including 2711P-RN3, 2711P-RN22C) Remote I/O (1784-PKTX, 2711P-RN6) required for PanelView Plus 700 to 1500 terminals. Remote I/O (2711P-RN1 - PVPlus 400/600) ControlNet (1784-PCIC(S), 2711P-RN15S) ControlNet (1784-PKTCS, 2711P-RN15S, 2711P-RN15C) The 2711P-RN1 driver is DeviceNet (1784-PCIDS, 2711P-RN10H, 2711P-RN10C) required for PanelView Plus 400 and 600 terminals. Help ΠK Cancel
- **6.** Configure Remote I/O Properties.
  - a. Accept the default name and default Jumper ID.
  - b. Set the baud rate to match the original baud rate setting of the Remote I/O network.
  - c. Click OK.

On a Remote I/O network, the configuration on the local tab is accessed to browse for tags but no communication takes place. When browsing for tags on a DH+ network, RSLinx communicates with the controller to acquire the available registers.

RIO Properties	×
General	
Name 配	
Jumper ID 0	
Baud 57600 💌	
OK Cancel Apply Help	

- 7. Expand the Remote I/O, RIO driver.
  - a. Right-click RIOdata.
  - b. Select Configure RIO.



**8.** Right-click RIO and select Import.

IO Config	guration	2
⊡¶ Bl' ȶ	Add Rack Add Block Transfer	
	Import	
	Export	
	Save	
	Properties	
L		

- **9.** Import the PV Rio XML.xml file located under the new FactoryTalk View ME application that was created.
  - a. Select the file.
  - b. Click Open.



RIO Configuration

Communication Setup - RNA://\$Local/alarmtrigger/RSLinx Enterprise

ce Shortcuts

PVRI0

**10.** Save the RIO configuration and click OK.

- **11.** Click Add to add a device shortcut named PVRIO.
- **12.** Expand the Remote I/O, RIO driver and select RIOdata.
- **13.** Click Apply under Device Shortcuts.
- **14.** Click Copy to copy the local configuration to the Target tab.
- **15.** Click Yes.



Yes

Νo

Add a device shortcut that specifies two communication paths. Click Local to specify one path on this computer for application development and testing. Click Target to specify a second path for use by the target device.

Local Target

- **16.** Click the Target tab to very the copy operation.
- **17.** Click OK to save changes.

\_ 🗆 🗙

### **Configure DH+ Communication**

🔏 RSView Studio - Machine Edition

🖬 🖶 😂 🗅 😂 🦧 🎚 🕖

Explorer

View Application Tools Window Help

Follow these steps to configure a new DH+ configuration for your application.

×

**1.** In the Explorer window, expand RSLinx Enterprise and double-click Communication Setup.

**2.** Select Create a New Configuration and click Finish.

□-	
■ ■ IMME_PVP700_1000_v002	
E System	
HMI Tags	
E Graphics	
🗈 🛅 Alarms	
Information	
⊡ Logic and Control	
🗄 💼 Data Log	
🖻 🔄 RecipePlus	
🖌 🔐 RecipePlus Setup	
🗃 RecipePlus Editor	
🖻 📇 RSLinx Enterprise	
Communication Setup	
System	
🗄 💼 Policies	
।	
🗄 🧰 Users and Groups	
Application Communications	
RSLinx Enterprise Configuration Wizard	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and	×
	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file:	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file:	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file:      Create a new configuration.      Copy an existing configuration from a	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file:	X
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: Create a new configuration. Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project.	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: Create a new configuration. Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project. Copy the configuration that is currently	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: © Create a new configuration. © Copy an existing configuration from a	X
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: Create a new configuration. Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project. Copy the configuration that is currently	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: Create a new configuration. Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project. Copy the configuration that is currently	×
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: Create a new configuration. Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project. Copy the configuration that is currently	X
A configuration file contains information about devices, drivers, and networks. Select the source for this offline configuration file: Create a new configuration. Copy an existing configuration from a previously created project. Copy the configuration that is currently	

\_ 🗆 🗵

- **3.** In the Communication Setup dialog, select the local tab.
- **4.** Right-click RSLinx Enterprise and select Add Driver.
- **5.** Select the DH+ (1784-PKTX, 2711P-RN6, 2711P-RN8) driver and click OK.



- **6.** Configure DH+ Properties.
  - a. Accept the default name.
  - b. Set the station number to a unique number not used by any other device on this network.
  - c. Set the jumper ID to match the jumpers on the 1784-PKTX card.
  - d. Set the baud rate of DH+ network to match the device you are connecting too.
  - e. Click OK
- **7.** Right-click the DH+ driver and select Add Device.

DH+ Properties	×
General	
Name DH+	-
Station Number 0	
Jumper ID 0	7
	1
Baud 57600 _	]
OK Cancel Apply	Help

🖃 🗐 RSLinx Enterprise,



8. In the Add Device Section, browse the folders and select the device your terminal will be connecting to and click OK.



- **9.** Depending on the device you selected you may need to configure the IP, Slot or Address of that device on your network.
- **10.** Click Add to add a device shortcut and name it to the original topic name the PanelView e used.
- **11.** Expand the DHPlus, DH+ driver and select your device.
- **12.** Select your shortcut and the device under the DH+ driver and click Apply.
- **13.** Click Copy to copy the local configuration to the Target Tab.
- 14. Click Yes





**15.** Click OK to save the changes.
### **ControlNet Communications**

Refer to ControlNet Communications for PanelView Plus Terminals user manual, publication, <u>2711P-UM003</u>, for step-by-step details on how to configure ControlNet Scheduled and Unscheduled communication with FactoryTalk View ME software.

# **Create the Runtime Application**

Introduction	In this chapter, you will create, download, and run the migrated application with all modifications.
Before You Begin	<ul> <li>Review migration considerations (Chapter 1).</li> <li>Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Optionally install the PanelView Plus terminal in the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Import your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application into FactoryTalk View ME software (Chapter 3).</li> <li>Review the conversion log for your migrated application (Chapter 4).</li> <li>Review object and expression mapping (Chapter 5).</li> <li>Review unsupported features and common migration issues (Chapter 6).</li> <li>Qualify the runtime application (Chapter 7).</li> </ul>
What You Need	<ul><li>Converted FactoryTalk ME application with unsupported features and workarounds for migration issues.</li><li>Qualified runtime application.</li></ul>

# **Follow These Steps**

Follow these steps to create a runtime application, download, and run the application on the PanelView Plus terminal.



### Create the Runtime Application

- **1.** Open your converted application in FactoryTalk View ME software.
- **2.** Choose Create Runtime Application from the Application menu.
- **3.** Enter a name for your runtime application or accept the default name.
- **4.** Click Save to create the runtime file.

The file is saved to the default runtime location.

Now that you have configured global memory connections to monitor memory performance of the application at runtime, you are ready to create the runtime file. If you did not configure global memory connections, please return to the previous section.

Follow these steps to compile a Machine Edition .mer file that you can then download to a PanelView Plus terminal.



Create Runtime	Application					?×
Save in:	🗀 Runtime		•	÷ŧ	₫	
My Recent Documents Desktop						
My Documents						
My Computer						
My Network Places	File name:	PVe App			•	Save
A Habba	Save as type:	Runtime 5.0 Application	on (*.mer)		•	Cancel
ſ	Conversion to dev Always allow Never allow of					Help

A dialog shows the status of the runtime file creation. When the process completes, the dialog automatically closes.

Creating run	time file
AlarmSetup	
MachineAlarms	•
Cancel	]

## Download the Runtime Application

- **1.** Establish an Ethernet connection between your computer and the terminal.
- **2.** Launch the transfer utility in one of two ways.
  - a. Choose Transfer Utility from the Tools menu.

- b. Click the appropriate tool on the toolbar.
- **3.** Click the ... button to browse for the runtime file you just created.

You can download your runtime .mer application to the PanelView Plus terminal using an Ethernet connection or a CompactFlash card.

### **Download Application Using Ethernet Connection**

Follow these steps to download your runtime application to the PanelView Plus terminal using an Ethernet connection.







- **4.** Select the runtime file you Select File to Download ? just created and click Open. Look in: 🗀 Runtime -+ 🗈 💣 📰 • DPVe App My Recent Documents B Desktop My Documents 1 My Computer \*.mer -Open My Network File name: Places Cancel Files of type: Runtime Application Files (\*.mer) •
- **5.** Under Select destination terminal, expand the Ethernet driver.
- **6.** Browse for and select your PanelView Plus terminal.
- 7. Click Download to download the runtime file to the PanelView Plus terminal.

A progress bar shows the status of the download.

8. Click OK when the download has completed successfully.





Status: Downloading.

44%

**9.** On the PanelView Plus terminal, load the application by pressing the Load Application button or pressing the [F1] function key.



- **10.** Select your runtime application.
  - a. Press the up or down cursor to select the application.
  - b. Press the Load button or the [F2] function key on terminal.



**11.** Press Yes or the [F7] function key on terminal to replace the communication settings in the terminal with those in your runtime application.

You are now ready to run the application on the terminal. Skip to page 120.



### **Download Application Using a CompactFlash Card**

Follow these steps to load the runtime application to the PanelView Plus terminal using a CompactFlash card.

- 1. On your computer, copy the runtime application file to the runtime folder on a CompactFlash card supported by the PanelView Plus terminal.
- **2.** Turn off power to the terminal.
- **3.** Load the CompactFlash card into the card slot of the PanelView Plus terminal.
- **4.** Turn on power to the PanelView Plus terminal.
- On the configuration display, press Load Application button or press the [F1] function key on the terminal.

IMPORTANT

The root of the CompactFlash card must have the path 'RockwellSoftware\RSViewME\Runtime' or the application file will not be recognized at runtime.





- **6.** Press the Source button or [F1] on the terminal to select External Storage 1.
- **7.** Select your runtime application.
  - a. Press the up or down cursor to select the application.
  - b. Press the Load button or [F2] function key on the terminal.

Load Application

**8.** Press Yes or the [F7] function key on the terminal to replace the communication settings in the terminal with those in your runtime application.

place Cor	nmunications			
	Do you configurat	want to replace the te ion with the application	rminal's current comm n's communication cor	unication Ifiguration?
	(	Yes [F7]	) No [F8]	

### **Run the Application**

You are now ready to validate the runtime application on the PanelView Plus terminal to make sure that it will not exceed the memory usage requirements of the terminal. The global connections you configured earlier will let you monitor memory performance of the terminal.

**1.** Press Run Application or the [F2] function key on the terminal to run the currently loaded application.



#### IMPORTANT

If your application is not communicating to the controller:

- Check all cable connections.
- Verify that the Target tab in RSLinx Enterprise Communication Setup is configured correctly.

**2.** Cycle through all the runtime displays continuously.

**IMPORTANT** Cycle through all displays three to five times to get an average of how much memory your application is consuming. Memory usage will increase somewhat because of data logging, alarms and other features that log to a file.

As you cycle through each display, tags are activated and cached into memory. If you receive out of memory errors or warnings, your application may be consuming too much memory. You can do one of two things.

- Modify your application to decrease memory usage.
- Move the application to a PC-based platform such as an industrial computer.

# Measure and Improve Runtime Application Performance

Introduction	In this chapter, you will learn how to benchmark performance of your runtime application so that you can make improvements as needed.
Before You Begin	<ul> <li>Review migration considerations (Chapter 1).</li> <li>Select a PanelView Plus terminal replacement and adapter plate, if required (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Optionally install the PanelView Plus terminal in the existing PanelView 1000e or 1400e panel cutout (Chapter 2).</li> <li>Import your PanelBuilder 1400e .pvc application into FactoryTalk View ME software (Chapter 3).</li> <li>Review the conversion log for your migrated application (Chapter 4).</li> <li>Review object and expression mapping (Chapter 5).</li> <li>Review unsupported features and common migration issues (Chapter 6).</li> <li>Correct, validate, and test the application (Chapter 7).</li> <li>Create, download, and run the application on a PanelView Plus terminal (Chapter 8).</li> </ul>
What You Need	<ul> <li>A runtime application file downloaded and loaded in your PanelView Plus terminal.</li> <li>Your migrated application in FactoryTalk ME software with modifications based on unsupported features and workarounds for migration issues.</li> </ul>

# **Follow These Steps**

Follow this path to benchmark and improve the performance of your migrated application.



#### You are now ready to compare performance of your PanelBuilder 1400e application running on a PanelView 'e' terminal and the converted FactoryTalk View ME application running on a PanelView Plus terminal. The goal of this benchmarking is to identify objects or features, if any, that perform slower than your original application and increase that throughput.

You will perform the benchmarking by functional area so that you can improve performance one step at a time. Each function may also provide alternative methods to improve performance where needed.

**IMPORTANT** Performance benchmarking between the terminal platforms is critical so that operators experience the same if not better performance on the new platform.

## Reviewing Tag Update Response

**Benchmarking** 

Performance

This section compares tag update responses between PanelBuilder 1400e and FactoryTalk View ME software.

### Scan Classes - PanelBuilder 1400E Software

PanelBuilder 1400e software uses scan classes to specify how often a tag value is updated. Scan classes use foreground or background scanning periods. Any tag with device as its data source is assigned to a scan class. At runtime, the PanelView 'e' terminal periodically updates tag information in its value table by scanning the PLC addresses.

Scan classes let you fine tune application performance by adjusting the foreground or background update times in a single location.

- A **foreground** period applies to tags used in the currently displayed application screen or global function. All tags used for read-only global control functions, such as the time and date from the programmable logic controller, and all tags of the current application screen are scanned at the foreground rate.
- A **background period** applies to tags used in application screens not currently displayed. This period determines how often the address is scanned. The valid range of values is 1... 86,400 seconds. Tags on other screens are scanned at the background rate to speed up screen changes.

### Tag Update Rate - FactoryTalk View ME Software

FactoryTalk View ME software does not use scan classes for tags. Instead, the tag update response is dependent on where the tag is used in the application. Each display or feature has a maximum tag update rate. This parameter specifies the maximum rate at which data servers will send data to the tags used in the display, including tags used in expressions and embedded variables.

The default tag update rate is 1.0 seconds. If the update rate is changed, the new rate will not take effect until the display is closed and re-opened.

At runtime, all tags are updated immediately when the display is opened, regardless of the update rate.

📧 Animation I - /Objects 5 Screen Demo// (Dis	play)	
Rockwell Softw	a <b>re</b> RSVie Machi	w Station
Animation	Display Settings Key Assignments ight	Width
Visibility	Display Settings	$\sim$
?       Visible         Fill       Colour/Fill         Colour       Colour/Fill         Colour       Colour/Fill         Colour       Please clicular         Disable Help [F1]       Pre         Reset Help       F1	General Behavior Display Type Replace On Top Cannot Be Replaced Display Number: Security Code: Title Bar Insert Variable Disable Initial Input Focus Maximum Tag Update Rate:	Size C Use Current Size Specify Size in Pixels Width: 794 Height 571 Position X: 0 Y: 0 Background Color:
		OK Cancel Apply Help

#### **Maximum Tag Update Rate for Display**

### Measure Performance of Display Changes

During performance benchmarking, you may want to measure the time it takes for the application to change from one display to another. It is important that the operator experiences the same display feedback, if not better, on the PanelView Plus terminal.

If possible, place your PanelView 'e' terminal and the new PanelView Plus terminal side by side. Run the original PanelView 'e' application and the converted PanelView Plus application at the same time. You should be able to notice any performance issues when changing displays.

Follow these steps to measure the length of time it takes to change from one display to another in the application.

- **1.** Load and run your converted application on the PanelView Plus terminal.
- **2.** Use a stopwatch in the next steps to record the time it takes to change from one display to another display.
- **3.** At any display, press the Display Change button and start recording the time.
- **4.** Stop recording the time after all tag information is loaded on the next display.
- **5.** Repeat steps 3 and 4 until you have recorded the times for all displays in the application.

**IMPORTANT** Cycle through all displays at least twice. The first time you open a display it loads slower than subsequent displays because tag information is cached into memory after a display is opened.

**6.** If possible, repeat this procedure for the same application on the PanelView 'e' terminal.

In a FactoryTalk View ME application, each display can have a maximum of 1000 tag connections assigned. The more tag connections a display has, the longer it will take to load the display.

If performance is slower for some displays in the PanelView Plus application, you can:

- adjust the maximum tag update rate for these displays.
- reduce the number of tags used on these displays.

### Reviewing Background Updates

Tags are continuously updated by the runtime application whether or not the operator is on a specific display. Tags update according to the maximum tag update rate for the associated feature.

The more familiar you are with these tags and features, the easier it is to update and fine tune your application.

TIP

Set noncritical tags to a longer maximum update rate. Set critical tags to a lower rate so that time-sensitive information is always available to the operator.

### **Global Connections**

The Global Connections editor provides a list of connections that you can assign to tags.

- Date and Time
- Display
- Macro
- Backlight
- Memory

These tags are continuously updated in the background by the application, regardless of what display is currently active. The tags update according to the setting of the maximum update rate parameter.

Isto and Time D' I I I			
ate and Time Display Macro			
Connection	Tag or expression	Tag	Exprn
Year:		•••	
Day of Week:		•••	
Month:		•••	
Day of Month:		•••	
Hour:		•••	
Minute:		***	
Second:		•••	
Remote Date and Time:		•••	
Remote Year:			+++
Remote Month:			•••
Remote Day of Month:		***	+++
Remote Hour:			
Remote Minute:			
Remote Second:		***	

### Alarms

The Alarm Setup editor lets you define triggers, messages, and advanced features for alarms. Any trigger tags or optional connections assigned within the editor update according to the maximum update rate. This parameter is on the Advanced tab.

8 🕂	
ag Exprn	
•••	
••••	

### **Data Log Model**

The Data Log Model editor lets you configure up to 100 analog or digital tags that are logged to a file.

On the Log Triggers tab, you can define these tags to receive Periodic or On Change tag updates.

- For the Periodic configuration, you define a logging interval in which the tags are periodically updated.
- For the On Change configuration, you define the maximum update rate for updating the tags.

🗊 datalog1 - /Objects 5 Screen Demo/ (Data Log Mod 💶 💌	🗊 datalog1 - /Objects 5 Screen Demo/ (Data Log Mod 💶 🗖 🗙
Setup       Paths       Log Triggers       Tags in Model            • Periodics         • On Change         Log periodicallu         [nterval         • Seconds         • Seco	Setup       Paths       Log Triggers       Tags in Model         Periodic <ul> <li>Dn Change</li> <li>Log on tag change</li> <li>Maximum update rate:</li> <li>1</li> <li>seconds</li> <li>Change pgrcentage</li> <li>0</li> <li>Seconds</li> <li>Heartbeat</li> <li>0</li> <li>Seconds</li> <li>Image:</li> <li>Seconds</li> <li< th=""></li<></ul>
<u>Close</u> <u>Help</u>	<u>C</u> lose <u>H</u> elp

The On Change configuration also lets you define a Change Percentage and Heartbeat setting.

- **Change Percentage**: Logs tag values once a value has changed by a certain percentage. The percentage is based on the tag's minimum and maximum values as configured in the tag editor. Only tags that change by the specified percentage are logged.
- **Heartbeat**: Specifies a time interval on how often tag values are logged even if no change has occurred. The heartbeat verifies that the data in the log file is current.

#### **Information Messages**

The Information Message editor lets you specify information messages to display on a user defined display automatically. The tags assigned in this editor, update at the rate defined by the maximum update rate.

Display Display file name:			
[INFORMATION]	Edit		
Message file name:			
	Edit		
Acknowledge hold tir	me: Maximur	m Update Rate	
3 seconds	• 1	💌 seconds	$\mathcal{I}$
Connection:			
Name	Tag or expression	Tag	Exprn
Value		•••	••••
Ack		***	

### Optimize Tags for Communication Protocols

You can further improve performance of ControlNet, Remote I/O and DH+ applications by converting the application tags from HMI tags to one of these tag types:

- Alias (RIO network only)
- Direct reference tags.

The tag converter wizard (TCW) automatically converts tags in an application and creates new displays. Besides improving runtime performance, the utility also saves development time.

TIP

You can downloadThe TCW utility from the Knowledgebase. See Required Files and Utilities on page 46 for details.

#### About the Tag Converter Wizard

The tag converter wizard (TCW) requires core information from an existing application to perform the conversion.:

- Exported HMI tag database
- Exported displays (xml format)
- Exported alarms (xml format)

When this pre-conversion information is available, you can run the wizard. The wizard examines the HMI tag database to determine which tags to convert to alias tags or direct reference tags.

**IMPORTANT** HMI tags that use custom scale and offsets are not converted. Any alias tags with initial values assigned are not converted. You must manually set the custom scale, offsets, and initial values for these tags, for objects to operate correctly.

The HMI tags are substituted with the alias or device tags in the display and alarm xml files. When the conversion is done, a Convert\_Log.txt file is generated. This file indicates all tag substitutions on a display-by-display basis. A new set of display and alarm xml files is created that you can import into your migrated application. The original display and alarm xml files are unaltered.

**IMPORTANT** The tag converter wizard converts HMI tags to device tags. It does not convert device tags to HMI tags. Back up your application before starting the conversion. The conversion does alter you original displays when imported into your new application.

Accessories

m Symantec Client Security

FactoryTalk View Studio ×

🛅 Rockwell Software

🛅 Startup

٠

۲

٠

.

### **Export the HMI Tag Database**

Programs

Documents

Settings

Set Program Access and Defaults

Follow these pre-conversion steps to export the HMI tag database in your migrated application.

1. Launch FactoryTalk View Studio software.

2. Select your ME application and click Open.

> This example selects Baggage\_800x600.

ew Existing Application Name Baggage_800x600 Baggage_800x640	
Baggage 800v640	
BizBikes_ME	
	×

3. Select Tools>Tag Import and Export Wizard.



**4.** In the Operation field, select Export RSView Tag Database to CSV files and click Next.

🖋 Tag Import a	nd Export Wiza	rd		X
Select the operat	ion you would like to	) perform.		
Operation				
Export RSView t	ag database to CSV	′ files		•
<u>H</u> elp	<u>C</u> ancel	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext>	Einish

**5.** Click the ... button and browse to the project .med file and click Next.

This example uses Baggage\_800x600.med.

🖋 Tag Impor	t and Export Wiza	rd		×
	SView project that conta	ains the tags you	want to export.	
Source projec	:t			
Project type:	Machine Edition			<b>.</b>
Project:				
<u>H</u> elp	<u>C</u> ancel	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext>	<u>F</u> inish

- **6.** Accept the default name for the destination file.
- 7. Click Finish.

You have just successfully exported the HMI tag database.

🖋 Tag Impo	rt and Export Wiza	rd		×
Specify nam	es for the destination files			
Destination fi	les			
₩ Tags	C:\Documents and S Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_80			
<u>H</u> elp	Cancel	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext>	<u> </u>

The default destination of the .csv file is:

C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI Projects\Project\_Name\Project\_Name-Tags.CSV

### **Export Graphic Displays to XML File**

Follow these pre-conversion steps to export the graphics display in your converted application to an xml format.

- Navigate back to the open instance of FactoryTalk View Studio.
- **2.** In the Application Explorer, right-click Displays and select Import and Export.



**3.** Select Export graphic information from display and click Next.

Graphics Import Export Wizard - Operation Type	$\mathbf{X}$
Select the operation to perform: Export graphic information from displays    Import graphic information into displays	
< Back Next > Cancel Help	

**4.** Click Select All, then Next.

Graphics Import Ex	port Wizard - Displays to	Export	X
Select the displays to (ACTIVITY) (ALARM) (HISTORY) (INFORMATION) (INFORMATI	✓ inturn ✔ Main Menu ✔ overall		
Select All	Clear All	Cancel	Help

- 5. Click the ... button.
- **6.** Create a folder anywhere on your computer named Exported Displays.
- 7. Click Finish.

mer Projects\ROCKWELL AUTOMATION POLIS_4124784\Exported Xmls
WARNING: The export files generated by this wizard will replace any existing files with the same name in the folder specified above. The export files will be named according to the following naming convention: <display name="">.xml</display>

A dialog shows the name of each graphic display as it is exported to an .xml file.

RSView Studio	×
Exporting display 'oversizeview' to file 'oversizeview.xml'	
Cancel	

DisplaysExport.txt - Notepad Display\_Export.txt file for <u>File Edit Format View Help</u> any errors generated during Exporting display '[ACTIVITY]' to file '[ACTIVITY].xml' Export completed successfully. the export. Exporting display '[ALARM]' to file '[ALARM].xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display '[HISTORY]' to file '[HISTORY].xml' Export completed successfully. The displays have been successfully exported to the Exporting display '[INFORMATION]' to file '[INFORMATION].xml' Export completed successfully. folder created in step 6. Exporting display 'comms' to file 'comms.xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display 'features' to file 'features.xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display 'Intin' to file 'Intin.xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display 'intout' to file 'intout.xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display 'inturn' to file 'inturn.xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display 'Main Menu' to file 'Main Menu.xml' Export completed successfully. Exporting display 'overall' to file 'overall.xml' Export completed successfully.

### **Export Alarms to XML File**

👍 RSView Studio

Follow these pre-conversion steps to export alarms in your converted application to an xml format.

 Navigate back to the open instance of FactoryTalk View Studio.

8. Review the

**2.** In the Application Explorer, right-click Alarms and select Import and Export.



\_ || || || ×

**3.** Select Export alarm configuration from application and click Next.

larm Import Exp Select the operation		elect Operat	ion	[
Export alarm c	onfiguration from a	oplication		
C Import alarm co	onfiguration into ap	plication		
	< Back	<u>N</u> ext >	D Cancel	Help

**4.** Accept the default file name Alarms and click Finish.

The alarms have been successfully exported to the alarms.xml file.

arm Import Expo	t Wizard - :	Select Dest	tinatior	ı		×
Enter a file name for th	ne exported ala	rm configurati	on.			
Alarms						
Select where to store	the exported fil	B.				
C:\Documents and S		rs\Documents	s\RSViev	v Enterprise\I	ME\HMI	
Projects\Baggage_8	00x600					_
ļ						
			_			
	< <u>B</u> ack	Finish		Cancel	Help	
		Finish			ineip	

The default location for the alarm.xml file is:

C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI Projects\Project\_Name\Alarms.xml

### **Run the Tag Converter Wizard**

Now that you have completed the pre-conversion process, you are ready to run the tag converter wizard. The executable file is named TCW.exe.

- **1.** Double-click the TCW.exe utility.
- 2. Select a Conversion Type.
  - a. Select RIO Tag Optimization if your application uses RIO communication.
  - b. Select HMI to Direct Tag if your application uses DH+ or ControlNet communication.
- **3.** Click the ... button next to the Exported Tag Database field and load the exported tag database.

The file is located in the directory specified in step 6 on page 132.

**4.** Click the Add button next to Exported alarms/displays.

ag Conversion	
Conversion Type	
C HMI Tag -> Direct Tag (C	Convert all alarm/display HMI tags to Direct Referenced tags)
• RIO Tag Optimization (C	Convert all alarm/display HMI tags to Direct Referenced tags)
C HMI Tag -> Direct Tag (C	Convert all ME Macro HMI tags to Direct Referenced tags)
File Load	
Exported tag database (exporte	id .csv format)
T dalama (dialama (anan	
Exported alarms/displays (expor	ted .xml format)
	Add
	Remove
Select PV RIO.xml File	
-	
Device Shortcut Name (eg. PV	RIO, PLC, CLX, etc):
Destination Directory	
-	

**5.** Load the exported alarms and display xml files.

The alarms file is located in the folder specified under step 4 on page 136.

The xml display files are located in the folder specified in step 6 on page 134.

Hold down the Shift key and select all displays to load all displays at once.

Open			?:	×
Look in: 🗀 Baggage	800x600	• 🔁	-∎ *	
Gf× GlobalConn Images Local M_Alarms	C Macros PAR ProjectSet Startup Tag Baggage <u>e</u>	tings 300x600-Tags.CS	v	
<			)	
File <u>name:</u> Baggage	_800x600-Tags.CSV		<u>O</u> pen	
Files of type: CSV File	s (*.csv)	•	Cancel	
Open				?×
Look jn: 🙆	Exported Xmls	•	€	
열 [ACTIVITY] 연 [ALARM].x 안 [HISTORY] 안 [INFORMA 안 BatchImpo 안 comms.xml	ml .xml TION].xml t_Baggage_800x600.xm	Features.x Intin.xml intout.xml intout.xml inturn.xml Main Menu overall.xm	xml	
<	)			>
File <u>n</u> ame:	"systemstats.xml" "[AC]	(IVITY].xml'' ''[AL4	ABM].x	<u>O</u> pen
Files of type:	XML Files (*.xml)		•	Cancel

TIP

If your application uses DH+ or ControlNet communication, skip steps 6 and 7.

6. In the Select PV RIO.xml field, click the ... button to browse for the PVRIO.xml that was created with your migrated application.

This is the default location of the PVRIO.xml file.

7. In the Device Shortcut field, enter the device shortcut name that you defined in RSLinx Enterprise Communication editor.

The shortcut name is in the left side of the editor.

C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI Projects\Your\_Migrated\_Project\PVRIO>xml

_ Device Shortcuts Add Remove Apply	Design (Local)   Runtime (Target)
PVRIO	□
	Mode: Online Not Browsing

**8.** In the Destination Directory field, click the ... button to specify any location for the new xml display files.

The example shown may look different depending the network protocol of your application.

**9.** Click Next to continue the conversion.

○ HMI Tag -> Direct Tag	Convert all alarm/display HMI tags to Direct Referenced tags
• RIO Tag Optimization	Convert all alarm/display HMI tags to Direct Referenced tags
C HMI Tag -> Direct Tag	(Convert all ME Macro HMI tags to Direct Referenced tags)
ile Load	
Exported tag database (exp	orted.csv format)
hterprise\ME\HMI project	ts\Baggage_800x600\Baggage_800x600-Tags.(SV
Exported alarms/displays (e:	xported .xml format)
C:\Documents and Setti C:\Documents and Setti C:\Documents and Setti	ngs\nssandhu\Desktop\Baggage Export\[ACTIV ngs\nssandhu\Desktop\Baggage Export\[ALARI ngs\nssandhu\Desktop\Baggage Export\[HISTC ngs\nssandhu\Desktop\Baggage Export\[INFOF ngs\nssandhu\Desktop\Baggage Export\[Batchli
Select PV RIO.xml File	
C:\Documents and Settin	ngs\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME(H
Device Shortcut Name (eg.	PV RIO, PLC, CLX, etc):
PVRIO	
estination Directory	
C:\Documents and Settin	ngs\All Users\Desktop

The Report dialog shows the number of tag and display substitutions made.

10. Click Finish.

🛃 R	Report		×
Γ	Substitutions Made		
	HMI -> Direct	87	
	Displays Used	9	
C	Convert location:		
	C:\Documents and projects\Baggage_	Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HM 800x600\TCW Displays\	11
			>
		< <u>B</u> ack	Cancel

A conversion log file Conversion\_Log.txt is created and stored with the converted xml files.

The conversion process is complete. The utility has successfully converted all HMI device tags to alias or direct reference tags in all displays.

Convert_log.txt - Notepad	×
Eile Edit Format View Help	
Converting the source file C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_800x600\Alarms.xml to C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_800x600\TCW Displays\Alarms.xml	~
HMI Tag: {Outbound\motor_fault} was substituted with Direct Referenced Tag:	=
<pre>{::[Baggage]N7:15} HMMI Tag: {outbound\pusher7_fault} was substituted with Direct Referenced Tag:</pre>	
<pre>{::[Bağgage]N7:10} HMMI Tag: {outbound\cab1_fault} was substituted with Direct Referenced Tag:</pre>	
<pre>{::[Baggage]N7:7} HMI_Tag: {Outbound\induct1_fault} was substituted with Direct Referenced Tag:</pre>	-
<pre>{::[Bağgage]N7:23} HMI Tag: {Outbound\dom_to_int_jam} was substituted with Direct Referenced</pre>	
Tag: {::[baggage]N7:16} HMI Tag: {Outbound\pier4_jam} was substituted with Direct Referenced Tag: {::[baggage]N7:8} Converted count: 6	
Converting the source file C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_800x600\TCW Displays\[ACTIVITY].xml to C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSView Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_800x600\TCW Displays\[ACTIVITY].xml	
Converting the source file C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSview Enterprise\ME\MMI projects\Baggage_800x600\TCW Displays\[ALARM].xml to c:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\Rsview Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_800x600\TCW Displays\[ALARM].xml	
Converting the source file C:\Documents and Settings\All Users\Documents\RSview Enterprise\ME\HMI projects\Baggage_800x600\TCW Displays\[HISTORY].xml to C:\Documents and Settings\All	*

In addition to the conversion log file, the tag converter wizard generates a tag cross reference .csv file in the destination folder. This file cross references HMI tags to alias and direct reference tags.

When you open the .csv file in Excel, three columns show how the tags are linked.

HMI Tag	Alias Tag	Direct Reference Tag		
Tag1	MotorSart1	N7:0		

### **Re-import the Display XML File**

Now that you have converted all alarms and displays, you are ready to re-import the information into your application.

Follow these steps to re-import the xml display files to your application.



**3.** Select Import graphic information from display and click Next.

Graphics Import Export Wizard - Operation Type	×
Select the operation to perform:	
○ Export graphic information from displays	
Import graphic information into displays	
< Back Next > Cancel	Help

- **1.** Navigate back to the open instance of FactoryTalk View Studio.
- **2.** In the Application Explorer, right-click Displays and select Import and Export.

**4.** Select No to not backup the displays.

You did this when exporting graphic displays to xml format on page 133.

5. Click Next.

Graphics Import	Export Wiza	urd - Backup		×
			dified by the import?	
	< <u>B</u> ack	Next >	Cancel	Help

**6.** Select Multiple displays batch import file and click Next.

Graphics Import Export Wizard - Import File Type
Select the type of file to import:
C Single display import file
C Multiple displays batch import file
< Back

7. Click the ... button.

Graphics Import	t Export Wizard	- Multiple	Import File	X
Select the multip	le display batch impo	ort file:		$\frown$
l ∣⊂When importing	9			
Create new	v objects on the disp	lay		
O Update exist	sting objects on the	display		
can also be sp	reate new objects o ecified within the mu tting defined above.			
	( <u>Kark</u>	Finish	Cancel	Help

8. Select and open the BatchImport\_Your\_Project\_ Name.xml

Select Multi	ple Displays Batch I	mport File					?×
Look jn: 🔎	Direct XMLS	-	+	ŧ	Ċ	•	
🗐 31 - Maint_	level 2.xml						
🔮 32 - Alarm	Limit _1.xml						
🔮 33 - Alarm	Limit _2.xml						
🔮 Alarms.xml							
BatchImpo	rt_AE_4_ZAL_Tags_HMI.	×ml					
<	ter ber her her her her her her her her her h						>
File <u>n</u> ame:	BatchImport_AE_4_ZAL	_Tags_HMI.xml		_		<u>O</u> pen	
Files of type:	Batch Import Files (*.xml	)		•		Cance	

#### IMPORTANT

Manually copy the BatchImport\_Your\_Project\_Name.xml file to the location of the new displays created by the TCW utility. Select the xml file from this folder so all new displays are imported, not the original, unmodified displays.

- **9.** Select Update existing objects and
- 10. Click Finish.

Graphics Import Export Wizard - Multiple Import File	×
Select the multiple display batch import file:	
D:\Customer Projects\ROCKWELLAUTOMATION MINNEAPOLIS_4124784\Direct XMLS\BatchImport_AE_4_ZAL_Tags_HMI.xml	
When importing Create new objects on the display (Create new objects on the display (Create new objects or update existing objects on the display Whether you create new objects or update existing objects on the display can also be specified within the multiple displays batch import file and will override the setting defined above.	
< Back Finish Cancel	telp

**11.** Review the

DisplaysImport.txt file for errors.

The new alias and direct reference tags have been successfully imported into the application.

🖡 DisplaysImport.txt - Notepad	- OX
<u>Eile E</u> dit F <u>o</u> rmat <u>V</u> iew <u>H</u> elp	
Importing file '[ACTIVITY].xml' into display '[ACTIVITY]' Import completed successfully.	^
Importing file '[ALARM].xml' into display '[ALARM]' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file '[HISTORY].xml' into display '[HISTORY]' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file '[INFORMATION].xml' into display '[INFORMATION]' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'comms.xml' into display 'comms' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'features.xml' into display 'features' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'Intin.xml' into display 'Intin' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'intout.xml' into display 'intout' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'inturn.xml' into display 'inturn' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'Main Menu.xml' into display 'Main Menu' Import completed successfully.	
Importing file 'overall.xml' into display 'overall' Import completed successfully.	
	~

### **Re-import the Alarms XML File**

File View Application Tools Window Help

Follow these steps to re-import the xml alarms file to your application.

لصالك

- **1.** Navigate back to the open instance of FactoryTalk View Studio.
- 2. In the Application Explorer, right-click Alarms and select Import and Export
- 🖬 🖩 🚳 🗋 🖙 🌾 🔒 pplication Explorer - Baggage\_800x600 🛛 🔀 🖃 📑 Baggage\_800x600 Baggage\_800x600 🖻 🔄 System Project Settings 🖙 User Accounts 🖏 Diagnostics List Setup Global Connections 🖨 🔄 İMI Tags ☐ ∰ Tags □ ∰ Graphics Chapmes
   Displays
   D 🗏 🔄 Alarms 🐬 Alarm Setun Information
   Informatio
   Import and Export...
   Information Messages 🖃 🔄 Logic and Control A Macros
- **3.** Select No to not backup the alarms.
- 4. Click Next.

Alarm Import Expo	rt Wizard - Cı	reate Backup		$\mathbf{x}$
Do you want to backu	up your existing al	arm configuration	?	
C Yes				
• Na				
	< <u>B</u> ack	<u>N</u> ext >	Cancel	Help
- **5.** Click the ... button to select the Alarms.xml file from created by the TCW utility.
- 6. Click Finish.

The project has been successfully updated with the new alarms.

t Wizard - Sele	ct File	-	×
juration file to import			
	cuments\RSView Enterp	orise\ME\HM	
< Back	Finish Cancel	Help	1
	guration file to import. ettings\All Users\Doi 10x600\Alarms.xml	0x600\Alarms.xml	guration file to import. ettings\All Users\Documents\RS\View Enterprise\ME\HM I0x600\Alarms.xml

You can now re-test your application for improved performance.

# **Advanced Object Editing**

## Introduction

Editing techniques can save you time when using FactoryTalk View Studio software. Use these techniques to reduce the migration effort when updating common properties between multiple graphic objects.

- Property panel
- Editing multiple objects
- Object explorer
- Tag substitution

### **Property Panel**

The property panel is a powerful editing tool that you can use to perform quick edits and tag assignments by simply clicking on an graphic object. You can modify the property values of graphic objects and ActiveX controls, and assign tags and expressions to objects. Any edits you make in the property panel are applied immediately.

Follow these steps to open the property panel.

1. With a graphic display open, Select View>Property Panel.

The property panel will appear unavailable because you haven't selected an object.



**2.** Select a graphic object on the display.

This example shows a text object selected. The property panel shows all properties that you can edit for the selected object.

ext1 (Text)		_
Properties	Connections	
C All Prope	rties 🛛 📀 Shared Properties	
(Name)	Text1	1
Alignment	4 - gfxAlignmentMiddleCenter	
BackColor	0000000	
BackStyle	Transparent	
Caption	MESSAGE NUM	
Font	PV Small	
ForeColor	00000000	
Height	20	
Left	12	
SizeToFit	False	
Тор	280	
Visible	True	
Width	88	
WordWrap	True	
		~
Name:		
ype: String	(III )	1
ets the nam	e of the object.	1

**3.** Select the Connections tab to view and edit the tag connection properties for the selected object.

This example shows the Value and Polarity connections for a numeric display object.

## **Editing Multiple Objects**

NumericDisplay3 (Numeric Display) ? Properties Connections Name Tag / Expression Tag Exprn Value 4 \*\*\* +++ + Polarity +++ +++ Value: Type: Double Numeric value to be displayed

One of the most useful features of the property panel is that you can edit multiple graphic objects with common properties at the same time, rather than editing each object, one by one.

Chapter 6, Review Unsupported Features and Workarounds for Common Migration Issues, showed you how to create replacement multistate indicator, local message and numeric data display list objects in FactoryTalk View ME software. Creating those replacement graphic objects also required you to update properties to match the original PanelBuilder 1400 objects. These properties included captions, foreground/background colors, text size, number of states, and more. Follow these steps to change a few properties for a group of ten multistate indicator objects.

**1.** Select a group of graphic objects you want to edit.

> If your objects are not grouped, simply hold down the Ctrl key and click each object.

When a set of grouped objects are selected, the property panel shows only the grouped properties.

**2.** Click the Include Grouped Objects button on the property panel.

Multiple Selection

All Properties

(GroupLeft)

(GroupTop) (GroupVisible) True

Height:

(GroupWidth) 90

Properties Connections

Include Grouped Objects (GroupHeight) 199

(GroupName) Group3

Type: Long Sets the height of the object.

473

463

You will see all properties that can be edited for the objects in the group.

Clicking on any property provides a popup, drop-down menu, or other editing method.

In the next step, you will change the ST Caption from \*\*\*\* to State 0 and the ST BackColor to Green. These changes will then be applied to all selected objects for the state defined in the State property.

To change other states, simply change the State property to State1 and make the desired edits.

1	Property Panel	
	Multiple Selection	
	Properties Connections	
	All Properties     C Shared Properties	
	Include Grouped Objects	
. 1	(GroupHeight) 199	1
- 1	(GroupLeft) 473	
	(GroupName) Group3	
- 1	(GroupTop) 463	
	(GroupVisible) True	
	(GroupWidth) 90	
	2	12
- 1	Height:	
	Type: Long	1
	Sets the height of the object.	



- **3.** Click on the ... button next to St\_0 Caption.
- **4.** Type the new caption in the String Edit dialog and click OK.
- **5.** Click the ... button in the St\_BackColor field.
- **6.** In the color palette that opens, click a new color.

The example shows the grouped objects before and after edits.

Depending on the object you are editing, the properties will differ. Help text at the bottom identifies what the property does.





TIP

You can apply this editing technique to cursor Llst objects, depending on the number of objects. This will save you time when updating your objects in FactoryTalk View ME software to match the original PanelBuilder 1400e object.

### **Object Explorer**

The object explorer provides a tree-list of all objects in the selected display. You can select and highlight objects in this list.

Groups are listed as expandable items, with the + icon. To view the objects in a group, click the + icon or double-click the group name. The list expands to show the objects and groups within a group.

You can use the highlight settings to highlight specified objects on both the graphic display and object explorer. You can select objects by object type, by animation type, or by tag name.

For a display with many objects, object explorer provides an efficient way of locating and selecting graphic objects. If you want to edit specific objects, object explorer can highlight these objects for you. In conjunction with the property panel, you can:

- perform multiple edits instantly or
- double-click the object in object explorer to open the properties dialog and make edits to a single object.

Follow these steps to open object explorer.

1. With a graphic display open, Select View>Object Explorer.

Expand or collapse groups of objects by clicking the Expand or Collapse buttons.

The objects that appear in the list will differ for each display.

 Click the Settings button to search for objects. The Highlight Settings dialog lets you search for objects by Object Type, Animation Type, or Tag Name.

> When selecting by tag name, the list shows all tags and expressions referenced by objects in the display, except tags with embedded variables.

<ul> <li></li></ul>
<ul> <li>Group1</li> <li>Text3</li> <li>Text2</li> <li>Text1</li> <li>Group3</li> </ul>
Text3 Text2 Text1 ⊕ Group3
Text2 Text1 ⊞ Group3
Text1 ⊞-Group3
⊕ Group3
⊕ Group2
Highlighting on     Setting
Expand Collapse Hel



**3.** Select Local Message Objects to search for all local message objects.



**4.** Click OK to return to the object explorer.

**5.** Check the Highlight on check box and click the Expand button.

The object explorer highlights all local message displays in red.

Local message objects on the display also appear red with a border.

If you have a display with a red background, the red highlights will not be visible.

When you select an object in the object explorer, the highlight mode turns off. Simply, recheck the Highlight on box to turn the highlights back on.

⊞- Group3 ⊞- Group2		
T Highlight	ing on	Settings
Expand	Collapse	Help
)bject Explorer	22	
LocalMe: LocalMe: LocalMe: LocalMe: LocalMe: LocalMe: LocalMe: LocalMe:	Display9 Display8 Display7 Display6 Display5 Display3 Display2	
Highlighting c	on Setting	gs

Collapse

Help

Expand

**Object Explorer** 

Display Object

Local	Message	Display
Local	Message	Displau
Local	Message	Display

- **6.** Double-click an object in the object explorer to open the properties for the local message display.
- 7. Edit the properties and click OK.

Border style:	Border width:	<ul> <li>Border uses back colo</li> <li>Back color</li> </ul>
Back style:	Pattern style:	Border color
Solid _	None	Pattern color
		Fore color
		🔲 Blink
Font: PV Tiny  V	Size:	Alignment
tessage file		
ocalMsg	<u></u>	

If the property panel and object explorer are both open, click any object in object explorer. The property panel will update the display with the edit properties for the selected objects. You can make any updates from the property panel.

Object Explorer 🛛 🕅	Property Panel		×
Group4     NumericDisplay10	LocalMessageDispla	<b>y20</b> (Local Message Display)	?
NumericDisplay9	Properties Connectio		
- NumericDisplay8			3
- NumericDisplay0	All Properties	Shared Properties	
- NumericDisplay6	(Custom)		^
- NumericDisplay5	(Name)	LocalMessageDisplay20	
- NumericDisplay4	Alignment	Middle Center	
- NumericDisplay3	BackColor	0080000	
- NumericDisplay2	BackStyle	Solid	
NumericDisplay2	Blink	False	
- Text4	BorderColor	00FF0000	
E Group1	BorderStyle	None	
- LocalMessageDisplay22	BorderUsesBackColor	True	
- LocalMessageDisplay22	BorderWidth	1	
- LocalMessageDisplay20	Description		
- LocalMessageDisplay19	Font	PV Tiny	
- LocalMessageDisplay13	ForeColor	OOFFFFFF	
- LocalMessageDisplay10	Height	20	
- LocalMessageDisplay17	Left	441	
- LocalMessageDisplay10	MessageFile	LocalMsg	
- LocalMessageDisplay13	PatternColor	C OOFFFFFF	
LocalMessageDisplay14	PatternStyle	None	
Text3	Тор	161	
- Text3	Visible	True	
- Text1	Width	128	
Group3	WordWrap	True	100
- MultistateIndicator21			<u>M</u>
- MultistateIndicator20	- (Custom)		
		ntrol's custom property pages.	<u>^</u>
Highlighting on Settings			$\geq$
Expand Collapse Help			Help

**1.** Open the graphic display

you want to update.

**2.** Press Ctrl-A to select all objects in the display.

are highlighted. This

example display is for illustration purposes only.

All objects on the display

## **Tag Substitution**

You can use tag substitution to replace tag names or character strings in all selected graphic objects on a display. Character strings include tag placeholders, expressions and parts of strings within expressions. When replacing tags, you can use an entire tag name, including folders, or you can replace a string of characters.

You cannot use wildcard characters when searching for or replacing tag names.

Tag substitution is useful when your graphic displays use a direct reference tag name or if an HMI Tag name is referenced throughout your application and needs to be updated.

Follow these steps to substitute a tag or character string.



TIP

You must select all objects or the Tag Substitution dialog will only show tags of the selected objects.

3. Select Edit>Tag Substitution.

View	Objects	Arrange	Animation	Appli
Undo		Ctrl+	z	
<u>R</u> edo		Ctrl+Y		
Cu <u>t</u>		Ctrl+	x	
⊆opy		Ctrl+C		
<u>P</u> aste		Ctrl+V		
<u>D</u> elete		Del		
Duplicate		Ctrl+I	D	
Copy Animation				
aste A	nimation			
Tag Sub	stitution	>	Ctrl+I	२
	Undo Redo Cut Copy Paste Duplicat Copy Ar Paste A	Indo Qedo Cut Copy Paste Delete Duplicate Copy Animation Paste Animation	undo Sedo Cut Copy Paste Delete Duplicate Copy Animation	Indo Ctrl+: Qedo Ctrl+: Cut Ctrl+: Copy Ctrl+: Qaste Ctrl+: Qelete De Duplicate Ctrl+: Copy Animation Paste Animation

In the Tag Substitution editor, you can search on an existing name or a part of a tag name.

- **4.** Type mem in the Search for box.
- **5.** Type tag in the Replace with box.

Uncheck the Confirm Replacement option, if you don't want to confirm every replacement.

6. Click Replace.

The editor searches for each tag that contains the partial string mem and replaces the string with tag.

You are prompted to confirm each replacement.

**7.** Select Replace All to confirm the replacement of all tags at once.

You are notified when the substitution is complete.

- 8. Click OK.
- **9.** Select Edit>Tag Substitution to verify that tags with the string mem were updated to tag.

Tag Substitution		×
Search for:		
mem		
mem\int1 mem\int1 % 4 mem\int2 mem\sFirstDisplay mem\str1		×
Replace with:		
tag		
mem\int1 mem\int1 % 4 mem\int2 mem\isfirstDisplay mem\str1		×
✓ Confirm replacements	Replace Close	Help





arch for:		
ag∖int1 ag∖int1 % 4		~
ag\int2		
ag\lsFirstDisplay ag\str1		~
ag\str1		
place with:		
ag\int1 ag\int1 % 4		^
ag\int2		
ag vishirst Display ag vistr 1		~
agʻ\lsFirstDisplay agʻ\str1		

You can use tag substitution on a display-by-display basis to verify that all tags or partial strings are updated correctly in the application.

### B

background updates 126 bit position data type 80

### C

CompactFlash card downloads 114 ControlNet communication 109 conversion log 27 messages 28 opening 27 reviewing 27 cursor list objects 46, 48

### D

DH+ communication 106 diagnostic display configuring 93 diagnostic list 93 download runtime application 114

### E

editing multiple objects 148 error states for objects 93, 95 expressions 37

# F

#### FactoryTalk View ME software

conversion log 27 diagnostic list 93 editing multiple objects 148 editing objects 147 error states 95 import application 21 object explorer 150 property panel 147 tag substitution 154 test run displays 96 unsupported features 41 **fixed position decimal point** 82

#### G

global connections configure 100 monitor memory 99 global memory connections 98

### 

importing application 27 FactoryTalk View ME software 21 object mapping 35 installation 16

L ladder logic updates 86 local message object list 60

#### М

mapping objects 35 migrated application communication 99 ControlNet communication 109 create runtime application 113 DH+ communication 106 diagnostic list 93 download runtime application 114 expressions 37 hardware limitations 99 memory usage 99 performance 123 **RIO** communication 102 run application 120 test run 96, 98 test run displays 96 unsupported features 41 migration considerations 13 migration issues 46 migration path 4 multistate indicator object list 56

#### Ν

numeric data display object list 64

#### 0

object explorer 150, 154 object mapping 35

### Ρ

PanelView Plus terminals 16, 17 performance background updates 126 benchmarking 123 converting tags 130 migrated application 123 tag update response 123 PLC controlled decimal point 81 property panel 147

### R

replacement objects ActiveX control for set bit cursor point 68 local message displays 60 multistate indicators 56 numeric displays 64 piloted control list selector 48 replacing 68 cursor list objects 48 local message object list 60 multistate indicator object list 56 numeric data display object list 64 set bit cursor point object 68 retain last state feature 83 **RIO communication** 102 run application 114, 120 runtime application 113 download 114

#### S

scrolling list objects 47 See 68 set bit cursor point objects 68

### T

tag converter wizard 130, 137 tag substitution 154 tag update response 123 terminal comparisons 17 terminal replacement 17 adapter plates 16 PanelView Plus terminal 16 terminal replacement for PanelView Enhanced terminal 16 test run application 98 test run displays 96

#### U

unsupported features 41

V

visible state support 86

#### W

workaround

for bit position data type 80 workaround for fixed position decimal point 82 PLC controlled decimal point 81 retain last state 83

# Rockwell Automation Support

Rockwell Automation provides technical information on the Web to assist you in using its products. At <u>http://support.rockwellautomation.com</u>, you can find technical manuals, a knowledge base of FAQs, technical and application notes, sample code and links to software service packs, and a MySupport feature that you can customize to make the best use of these tools.

For an additional level of technical phone support for installation, configuration, and troubleshooting, we offer TechConnect Support programs. For more information, contact your local distributor or Rockwell Automation representative, or visit <u>http://support.rockwellautomation.com</u>.

### Installation Assistance

If you experience a problem with a hardware module within the first 24 hours of installation, please review the information that's contained in this manual. You can also contact a special Customer Support number for initial help in getting your module up and running.

United States	1.440.646.3434 Monday – Friday, 8am – 5pm EST
Outside United States	Please contact your local Rockwell Automation representative for any technical support issues.

### **New Product Satisfaction Return**

Rockwell tests all of its products to ensure that they are fully operational when shipped from the manufacturing facility. However, if your product is not functioning, it may need to be returned.

United States	Contact your distributor. You must provide a Customer Support case number (see phone number above to obtain one) to your distributor in order to complete the return process.
Outside United States	Please contact your local Rockwell Automation representative for return procedure.

#### www.rockwellautomation.com

#### **Power, Control and Information Solutions Headquarters**

Americas: Rockwell Automation, 1201 South Second Street, Milwaukee, WI 53204-2496 USA, Tel: (1) 414.382.2000, Fax: (1) 414.382.4444 Europe/Middle East/Africa: Rockwell Automation, Vorstlaan/Boulevard du Souverain 36, 1170 Brussels, Belgium, Tel: (32) 2 663 0600, Fax: (32) 2 663 0640 Asia Pacific: Rockwell Automation, Level 14, Core F, Cyberport 3, 100 Cyberport Road, Hong Kong, Tel: (852) 2887 4788, Fax: (852) 2508 1846